
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GROUP 
AGENDA 

Thursday 19th November 2020 at 7:15pm 
In accordance with the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 

(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020, this meeting will be held via Zoom and by the Council's YouTube channel 

– Braintree District Council Committees.

Members of the public will be able to view and listen to this meeting via YouTube. 
To access the meeting please use the link below: 

http://www.braintree.gov.uk/youtube 

Members of the Corporate Governance Group are requested to attend this meeting to 
transact the business set out in the Agenda. 

Membership:- 
Councillor P Euesden Councillor R van Dulken (Chairman) 
Councillor D Hume     Councillor D Wallace 
Councillor H Johnson (Vice Chairman) Councillor T Walsh 
Councillor D Mann Councillor Mrs L Walters 
Councillor Miss V Santomauro 

Members unable to attend the meeting are requested to forward their apologies for absence 
to the Governance and Members Team on 01376 552525 or email 
governance@braintree.gov.uk by 3pm on the day of the meeting. 

A WRIGHT 
Chief Executive 
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INFORMATION FOR MEMBER – DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS’ INTERESTS

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), Other Pecuniary Interests (OPI) 
or Non-Pecunitry Interests (NPI). 

Any Member with a DPI, OPI or NPI must declare the nature of their interest in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct.  Members must not participate in any discussion of the matter in 
which they have declared a DPI or OPI or participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on 
the matter at the meeting.  In addition, the Member must withdraw from the Chamber 
where the meeting considering the business is being held unless the Member has received 
a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer. 

Public Question Time – Registration and Speaking:

In response to the Coronavirus the Council has implemented procedures for Public 
Question Time for its virtual meetings which are hosted via Zoom.  

The Agenda allows for a period of up to 30 minutes for Public Question Time. 

Participation will be via the submission of a written question or statement which will be read 
out by an Officer or the Registered Speaker during the meeting.  All written questions or 
statements should be concise and should be able to be read within 3 minutes allotted for 
each question/statement.   

Members of the public wishing to participate are requested to register by contacting the 
Governance and Members Team on 01376 552525 or email governance@braintree.gov.uk 
by midday on the working day before the day of the Committee meeting.  For example, if the 
Committee meeting is due to be held on a Tuesday, the registration deadline is midday on 
Monday, (where there is a bank holiday Monday you will need to register by midday on the 
previous Friday). 

The Council reserves the right to decline any requests to register for Public Question Time if 
they are received after the registration deadline.    

Upon registration members of the public may indicate whether they wish to read their 
question/statement or to request an Officer to read their question/statement on their behalf 
during the virtual meeting.  Members of the public who wish to read their question/statement 
will be provided with a link to attend the meeting to participate at the appropriate part of the 
Agenda.  

All registered speakers are required to submit their written questions/statements to the 
Council by no later than 9am on the day of the meeting by emailing them to 
governance@braintree.gov.uk   In the event that a registered speaker is unable to connect 
to the virtual meeting their question/statement will be read by an Officer. 

Questions/statements received by the Council will be published on the Council’s website. 
The Council reserves the right to remove any defamatory comment in the submitted 
questions/statements.  

The Chairman of the Committee has discretion to extend the time allocated for public 
question time and to amend the order in which questions/statements are presented to the 
Committee. 
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Documents: Agendas, Reports, Minutes and Public Question Time questions and 
statements can be accessed via www.braintree.gov.uk 

Data Processing: During the meeting the Council will be collecting performance data of 
participants’ connectivity to the meeting. This will be used for reviewing the functionality of
Ms Teams/Zoom and YouTube as the Council’s platform for virtual meetings and for 
monitoring compliance with the legal framework for Council meetings. Anonymised 
performance data may be shared with third parties. 

For further information on how the Council processes data, please see the Council’s Privacy
Policy.   https://www.braintree.gov.uk/info/200136/access_to_information/376/privacy_policy 

We welcome comments to make our services as efficient and effective as possible. If you 
have any suggestions regarding the meeting you have attended, you can send these to 
governance@braintree.gov.uk 
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PUBLIC SESSION Pages 
1 

2 

3 

Apologies for Absence 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Corporate Governance Group held on 29th October 2020. (copy 
previously circulated). 

Declarations of Interest 
To declare the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest, other Pecuniary Interest or Non-Pecuniary Interest relating to 
items on the agenda having regard to the Code of Conduct for Members 
and having taken appropriate advice where necessary before the meeting. 

4 Public Question Time 
(See paragraph above) 

5 Report on the conclusions of the Standards Investigations 5 - 298 
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Report on the conclusions of the Standards 
Investigations 

Agenda No: 5 

Portfolio Finance and Performance 

Corporate Outcome: A sustainable environment and a great place to live, work 
and play 
A high performing organisation that delivers excellent 
and value for money services 
Delivering better outcomes for residents and businesses 
and reducing costs to taxpayers 

Report presented by: Kim Cole, Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer 
Report prepared by: Kim Cole, Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer 

Background Papers: 

None 

Public Report 

Key Decision: No 

Executive Summary: 

The Council is required to have in place arrangements for dealing with allegations that 
Councillors have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, and provisions which allow 
for an investigation to be completed where one is required. This report sets out the 
outcome of the two investigations, conducted in accordance with the Councils Complaint 
process. 

Recommended Decision: 

The Corporate Governance Group are asked to note the two independent investigations 
as follows: 

1. A Complaint against Councillor Joanne Beavis, the findings of the investigation
where that there had been a breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct
(Appendix A).

2. A Complaint against Councillor Graham Butland, the findings of the investigation
where that there had not been a breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct
(Appendix B).

3. The Cost to the Council of the investigations were £2,499 and £15,700
respectively.

Corporate Governance Group 
19th November 2020 
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Purpose of Decision: 

As elected representatives, members of the public have high expectations of 
Councillors. Councillors have both individual and collective responsibility to maintain 
standards, support expected behaviour and challenge behaviour which falls below 
expectations. 

Any Corporate implications in relation to the following should be explained in 
detail. 

Financial: No matters arising out of this report, the cost of the 
investigations have been met from existing budgets. 

Legal: No matters arising out of this report 

Safeguarding: No matters arising out of this report 

Equalities/Diversity: It has not been necessary to conduct an Equality Impact 
Assessment. 

Customer Impact: No matters arising out of this report 

Environment and 
Climate Change: 

No matters arising out of this report 

Consultation/Community 
Engagement: 

No matters arising out of this report 

Risks: No matters arising out of this report 

Officer Contact: Kim Cole 
Designation: Head of Governance and Monitoring Officer 
Ext. No: 01376 552525 ext 2629   
E-mail: Kim.cole@briantree.gov.uk 
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1. Introduction

1.1 In 2018 and 2019 the Council received two complaints under its Code of 
Conduct which proceeded to an investigating being conducted by an 
Investigating Officer. This report sets out the outcomes of those investigations 
and the associated costs incurred by the Council during the course of the 
investigations. 

2. Complaint against Councillor Joanne Beavis

2.1 In April 2018, the Council received a complaint from Mrs Burrows-Wren (the 
Complainant), regarding an application that had been to the Council made by 
Councillor Joanne Beavis under the Councillors Community Grant Scheme on 
behalf of the Braintree Community Foundation Community Interest Company 
(the Company). Councillor Beavis was at that time a Director of the Company, 
together with the Complainant, who had resigned as a director on 13 
November 2017. 

2.2 The Complainant was concerned that Councillor Beavis had submitted the 
application form on 27 March 2018 for a Grant of £1,383.80, and that within 
the application Councillor Beavis had confirmed that there were two directors 
of the Company and that there were a minimum of two authorised signatories 
to all financial transactions, listing the Complainant and Councillor Beavis as 
the Directors and authorised signatories. 

2.3 An independent investigation into the allegation was commissioned by the 
Council’s then Monitoring Officer (Mr Ian Hunt), and Stephen Pearson,
Solicitor at Freeths was appointed as the Investigating Officer (The First 
investigation).  

2.4 The Investigation Officer completed their investigation and submitted their final 
report to the Council on 4 January 2019. The Investigating Officer determined 
that: 

(a) the declaration made within the grant application form was false, as the
Complainant had resigned as a Director on the 13th November 2017 and
the application for the grant was made on the 25th March 2018.
Accordingly Councillor Beavis had breached the Councils Code of
Conduct under paragraph 7.1, namely that ‘you must not use or attempt to
use your position as a member improperly or to confer on or secure for
yourself or any other person and advantage or disadvantage’; and

(b) there remained, at the time the application was made, two signatories to
the Company bank account, one of which included the Complainant.
Accordingly Cllr Beavis was not in breach of the Councils Code of Conduct
under paragraph 7.1.

2.5 On 1 February 2019, Councillor Beavis resigned as a District Councillor. As a 
result, the outcome of the investigation was not published at that time and the 
matter was not brought to the Committee and did not proceed by way of a 
Standards Hearing.  
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2.6 In light of the findings of the Investigating Officer, the Council determined that 
whilst noting the community purpose of the Company, and the grant was 
applied for purposes consistent with the grant scheme, the grants were paid 
from public funds, which the Council has a duty to safeguard and ensure are 
used appropriately. Accordingly the Council sought recovery of the full value of 
the grant obtained using a false statement. This was repaid in full by 
Councillor Beavis in March 2019. 

3. Complaint against Councillor Graham Butland

3.1 In February 2019, Councillor Beavis submitted a complaint against Councillor
Graham Butland. At that time Councillor Beavis was not a Councillor, having
already resigned from office. Following which a second complaint was brought
by Councillor Beavis in December 2019. At that point Councillor Beavis had
been re-elected as a Councillor in May 2019.

3.2 The first complaint concerned the conduct of Councillor Butland during the
course of the investigation into Councillor Beavis own conduct as set out
above and alleged that Councillor Butland had:

(a) influenced the first investigation,
(b) bullied and intimidated Councillor Beavis during that investigation,
(c) treated Councillor Beavis with disrespect during the period that both

Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis were members of the same
Political Party.

3.3 The second complaint alleged that Councillor Butland had acted with 
disrespect during the Council meeting on 16th December 2019. 

3.4 In September 2019, Jonathan Goolden of Wilkin Chapman LLP was 
commissioned by the Council’s then Monitoring Officer (Mr Ian Hunt) as the
Investigating Officer (the Second Investigation). Having commenced the 
investigation into the first complaint, Mr Goolden was further instructed to also 
consider the second complaint in the course of his investigation. 

3.5 The Investigating Officer completed their investigation and submitted their final 
report to the Council on 7 August 2020. The Investigating Officer determined 
that Councillor Butland had not breached the Council’s Code of Conduct in
respect of any of the aspects forming part of the first or second complaint. 

4. Costs

4.1 The Committee is advised that the costs of the two investigations are as
follows:

(a) The complaint against Councillor Beavis - £2,499
(b) The complaint against Councillor Butland - £15,700.

5. The Complaint Process

5.1 The Council is required to have in place arrangements for dealing with
allegations that Councillors have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct,
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and provisions which allow for an investigation to be completed where one is 
required.  

5.2 Having determined that an investigation was required in respect of both 
complaints, the Council’s Monitoring Officer is required to consider the
outcome of the investigation. 

5.3 Where the investigation determines that there is no breach of the Council’s
Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer is required to report the findings to the 
Committee for information only, and no further action is required. 

5.4 Where a breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct is identified, the Monitoring
Officer may seek to resolve the matter informally, or refer the matter to the 
Committee for a Standards Hearing. 

5.5 Following the outcome of the first investigation, Councillor Beavis resigned 
from her Councillor role. The Council’s Complaint Process sets out that where
the Member subject to the complaint ceases to be a member of the Authority, 
the Monitoring Officer may stop the investigation. In this instance the 
investigation had already be concluded and therefore there was no 
requirement to stop the investigation. 

5.6 Having received the First Investigation Report, the matter was suspended 
upon the resignation of Councillor Beavis. However, following receipt of the 
complaint Councillor Beavis brought against Councillor Butland, and in light of 
the fact that the two investigations are linked in terms of the relevant events 
and circumstances arising out of them, it was necessary to keep the two 
investigations together. The First Investigation and its investigation report was 
considered as part of the Second Investigation. 

5.7 The sanctions available to the Committee had the First Investigation been 
brought to the attention of the Committee at that stage had fallen away as a 
result of Councillor Beavis resignation, and having repaid the Grant to the 
Council, any report at that time would have been for information only. 

5.8 As the investigations are linked, it is now appropriate that these are formally 
brought forward and considered by the Committee for transparency and 
completeness. 

6. Conclusion

6.1 The Committee are asked to note the outcome of both the First and Second
Investigation and note that there will be no further action taken by the Council
in respect of either complaint and that this now concludes the investigations
into these two complaints.
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CONFIDENTIAL REPORT 

V2 22.07.2020 
Page 1 of 48

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 

Report of an investigation by Wilkin Chapman LLP, appointed by the Monitoring 
Officer for Braintree District Council, into allegations concerning Councillor Butland, a 
Member of Braintree District Council. 

Dated: 30 July 2020 

VOLUME 1 
REPORT 

Cartergate House 
26 Chantry Lane 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

a limited liability partnership registered in England no. OC343261, 
 authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority 
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1. Executive Summary  
 
1.1 Councillor Graham Butland is a Member of Braintree District Council having 

been first elected in May 2003. 
 
1.2 Councillor Joanne Beavis is also a Member of Braintree District Council 

having been first elected in May 2003. 
 

1.3 Both were elected as Conservative Councillors. In 2004 Councillor Butland 
was elected as Leader of the Conservative Group and appointed as Leader of 
the Council. In 2007 Councillor Beavis was appointed to the Council’s Cabinet 
by Councillor Butland. 
 

1.4 In 2016 the relationship between Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis 
deteriorated due to a dispute over the Conservative Party’s selection of 
candidates for the County Council elections which were due to be held in 
2017. 
 

1.5 In June 2016 Councillor Beavis was removed from the Council’s Cabinet by 
Councillor Butland. 
 

1.6 In April 2018 Councillor Butland received an email from Ms Burrows-Wren 
regarding a grant application that had been submitted to the Council by 
Councillor Beavis. Ms Burrows-Wren expressed concern that her name had 
been used by Councillor Beavis on the grant application when she (Ms 
Burrows-Wren) was no longer involved with the organisation seeking the 
grant. 
 

1.7 Councillor Butland referred the email to the Council’s Chief Executive who 
forwarded it to the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer dealt with the 
email in accordance with the Council’s Constitution eventually determining 
that the matter should be investigated as a standards complaint. Stephen 
Pearson of Freeths Solicitors was engaged to carry out the investigation. 

 
1.8 Mr Pearson found that Councillor Beavis had breached the Council’s Code of 

Conduct. Before his investigation report could be considered by the Council 
Councillor Beavis resigned from her position as a member of the Council. 
 

1.9 Mrs Beavis (at the time no longer a District Councillor) submitted a complaint 
to the Council’s Monitoring Officer in February 2019. A further complaint was 
submitted in December 2019 and this has been the subject of this 
investigation. 
 

1.10 Following assessment of the complaints we were engaged to consider the 
following allegations that Councillor Butland had:- 
 
(a) influenced the investigation of an allegation that Councillor Beavis had 

failed to follow the Council’s code of conduct; 
 

(b) bullied Councillor Beavis during the investigation; 
 
(c) intimidated Councillor Beavis during the investigation; 
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(d) treated Councillor Beavis with disrespect and bullied Councillor Beavis 
during a period of three years when Councillor Beavis and Councillor 
Butland were members of the same political group on the Council; and 

 
(e) acted with disrespect and attempted to intimidate Councillor Beavis in 

holding up a copy of Mr Pearson’s investigation report during the 
Council meeting of 16 December 2019. 

 
1.11 Our conclusion is that there has not been a breach of the code of conduct of 

the authority concerned by Councillor Butland. 
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2. Councillor Butland’s official details 
 
2.1 Councillor Butland was first elected to Braintree District Council (the Council) 

in May 2003 representing the Conservative Party. 
 
2.2 Councillor Butland signed a declaration of acceptance of office most recently 

on [date] 
 

2.3 Councillor Butland has received training on the Councillors’ Code of Conduct, 
the most recent being in May 2019. 
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3. Relevant legislation and protocols 
 
3.1 Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) provides that a relevant 

authority (of which the Council is one) must promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the authority. In 
discharging this duty, the Authority must adopt a code dealing with the 
conduct that is expected of members when they are acting in that capacity. 

 
3.2 Section 28 of the Act provides that the Authority must secure that its code of 

conduct is, when viewed as a whole, consistent with the following principles:- 
 

(a) Selflessness; 
 

(b) Integrity; 
 

(c) Objectivity; 
 

(d) Accountability; 
 

(e) Openness; 
 

(f) Honesty; 
 

(g) Leadership. 
 
3.3 The Authority adopted a Code of Conduct (attached at WC 1) on 8 May 2015 

in which the following paragraphs are included:- 
 

3.4 Paragraph 2 of the Code states:- 
 

“Who does the Code apply to? 

2.1 This Code applies to all Members of Braintree District Council 
including co-opted members. 

2.2 It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this 
Code.” 

3.5 Paragraph 3 of the Code states:- 
 

“What does the Code apply to? 
 
 3.1 You must comply with this Code whenever you- 
 
 3.1.1 Conduct the business of the Authority, or 
 
 3.1.2 You are acting as a representative of the Authority. 
 

3.2 This Code has effect in relation to your conduct in your official 
capacity” 

 
3.6 Paragraph 5 of the Code states:- 

 
 “General obligations 
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5.1 You must treat others with respect. 
 
 5.3 You must not… 
 
 5.3.2 Bully any person; 
 

5.3.3 Intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely 
to be:- 

 
5.3.3.1 a complainant; 
 
5.3.3.2 a witness; or 
 
5.3.3.3 involved in the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings, in relation to an allegation that a Member 
(including yourself) has failed to comply with the Authority’s 
code of conduct; or 

 
5.3.3.4 Do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 

impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the 
Authority.” 

 
3.7 Paragraph 7 of the Code states:- 
 

“Conferring an advantage or disadvantage 
 

7.1 You must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member 
improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other 
person, an advantage or disadvantage.” 
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4. The Evidence Gathered 
 
Our appointment 
 
4.1 The Council’s Monitoring Officer, Ian Hunt, considered two complaints made 

by Councillor Beavis regarding the conduct of Councillor Butland. The first 
complaint was submitted on 26 February 2019. A further complaint was 
submitted on 18 December 2019. The complaints against Councillor Butland 
were referred to Wilkin Chapman LLP Solicitors for investigation on 20 
February 2020. 

 
4.2 Work in respect of this matter was undertaken by Jonathan Goolden, Alan 

Tasker and Gill Thompson. 
 
4.3 We wish to record our thanks for the co-operation and courtesy shown to us 

by all those we had cause to contact during the investigation. 
 
The complaint 
 
4.4 The Council received a complaint from Councillor Beavis on 26 February 

2019. The complaint related to the alleged conduct of Councillor Butland in 
respect of his dealings in the handling of a complaint submitted by Ms 
Burrows-Wren regarding Councillor Beavis’ involvement in a grant application 
submitted to the Council. The complaint alleged bullying and intimidating 
behaviour by Councillor Butland. 
 

4.5 A further complaint was submitted by Councillor Beavis on 18 December 
2019 regarding Councillor Butland’s conduct at a meeting of the Council held 
on 16 December. 

 
4.6 Copies of the complaints, together with other relevant documents are 

annexed to this report and listed in a schedule of evidence at Appendix A. 
 

The Investigation 
 

4.7 On 31 March 2020 Mr Tasker conducted a telephone interview with Councillor 
Beavis from which a statement was produced and signed on 7 May 2020. 
 

4.8 On 1 April 2020 Mr Tasker conducted telephone interviews with Caroline 
Burrows-Wren, Nigel McCrea, Stephen Pearson, Ian Hunt, Councillor John 
McKee and Councillor Dick Madden from which statements were produced 
and signed. 
 

4.9 On 2 April 2020 Mr Tasker conducted telephone interviews with Councillor 
Wendy Schmitt, Councillor Peter Tattersley and Lady Patricia Newton from 
which statements were produced and signed. 
 

4.10 Mr Tasker produced a draft statement for Andy Wright from Council 
documents and an earlier face to face discussion, Mr Wright amended the 
statement and signed a copy. 
 

4.11 On 2 April 2020 Mr Tasker conducted a telephone interview with Councillor 
Graham Butland from which a note was prepared. Councillor Butland was 
given an opportunity to comment on the notes of the interview. 
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4.12 Mrs Thompson viewed the webcast of the Council meeting held on 16 

December 2019 and produced a transcript of the relevant part of the meeting 
(enclosed at WC 2). 
 

Background 
 
4.13 Councillor Beavis submitted a grant application to the Council dated 25 March 

2018 in her capacity as a Director of Braintree District Community Foundation 
CIC. In the application she named Caroline Burrows-Wren as a Director of the 
CIC. Ms Burrows-Wren had resigned as a Director of the CIC in November 
2017 
 

4.14 In April 2018 Ms Burrows-Wren received correspondence from the Council 
regarding the grant application which caused her concern as she was no 
longer associated with the CIC. She contacted Councillor Butland as Leader 
of the Council by email expressing her concern. Councillor Butland forwarded 
the email to the Council’s Chief Executive. 
 

4.15 The email was referred to the Council’s Monitoring Officer as it made 
reference to the Council’s grant award and possible anomalies in the 
application. Following an initial fact finding exercise the email was considered 
to be a standards matter and Stephen Pearson of Freeths Solicitors was 
engaged to carry out an investigation. 
 

4.16 On completion of his investigation Mr Pearson produced a report in which he 
found that Councillor Beavis had breached the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

4.17 On 1 February 2019, before the Council could consider the recommendations 
in the investigator’s report, Councillor Beavis resigned from the Council. This 
brought an end to the matter as it was considered there was nothing the 
Council could do as Councillor Beavis was no longer a member of the 
Council. 
 

4.18 On 26 February 2019 Councillor Beavis submitted a complaint about the 
conduct of Councillor Butland. 
 

4.19 Councillor Beavis was re-elected to the Council in May 2019 having stood as 
an Independent. 
 

4.20 On 16 December 2019 both Councillor Beavis and Councillor Butland 
attended a meeting of the Council. Following the meeting Councillor Beavis 
submitted a complaint about the conduct of Councillor Butland at the meeting. 
 

Councillor Joanne Beavis’ complaints 
 
4.21 Councillor Beavis submitted a complaint on 26 February 2019 (enclosed at 

WC 3). The complaint was in four parts; first that Councillor Butland 
influenced the process of a complaint made against her. Second, that 
Councillor Butland used bullying and intimidating behaviour towards her 
during the handling of the complaint against her. Thirdly, a three year case of 
bullying, intimidation and victimisation towards her by Councillor Butland. And 
fourthly, bullying, intimidation and victimisation to harass her by Councillor 
Butland which was reported to Essex Police in February 2019. 
 

Page 122 of 298



CONFIDENTIAL REPORT 

V2 22.07.2020 
Page 11 of 48 

 

4.22 Councillor Beavis submitted a further compliant by email on 18 December 
2019 (enclosed at WC 4). The complaint was that at a meeting of the Council 
on 16 December Councillor Butland held up a copy of the report into the 
investigation of a complaint against her which was intimidating and bullying. 

 
Councillor Beavis 
 
4.23 Councillor Beavis was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 31 March 2020 from 

which a statement was prepared (attached at WC 5). Councillor Beavis said:- 
 

(a) she was a member of Braintree District Council having been first 
elected in May 2003 as a Conservative Councillor. From 2007 to 2016 
she was the Cabinet Member for People and Communities. She 
resigned from the Council and from the Conservative Party in January 
2019 due to the issues set out in her statement. She was re-elected as 
an Independent Councillor in May 2019; 

 
(b) she was also a Member of Essex County Council having been elected 

in May 2017. During the period 2018-2019 she was a Member of the 
Essex County Council Cabinet Office as Deputy Member for Children 
and Families. She also held a number of positions at a national level 
including the Local Government Association and the National Board of 
Conservative Councillors; 

 
(c) she understood that the investigation being carried out by Wilkin 

Chapman solicitors only covered the parts of her complaint that related 
to the conduct of Councillor Butland and that the matters relating to the 
conduct of the Council would be dealt with separately; 

 
(d) her complaints were to demonstrate that over a four year period she 

had been singled out for bullying, intimidation and harassment by 
Councillor Butland. That he had influenced the investigation into a 
complaint made against her. And that at a meeting of the Council he 
had intimidated her by holding up a copy of the investigation report; 

 
(e) first, she believed that Councillor Butland was involved in the conduct 

of an investigation into an issue raised by Ms Burrows-Wren regarding 
a grant application she made to the Council. This was evidenced by 
the fact that Ms Burrows-Wren originally raised the matter with 
Councillor Butland who then referred it to the Council’s Chief 
Executive; 

 
(f) when she was made aware of the matter and that it was being dealt 

with as a complaint she contacted Councillor Butland as he was the 
Leader of the Conservative Group, and Leader of the Council. As a 
member of the Conservative Group she considered it appropriate that 
he should be informed. His response was that he was on holiday and 
could not find anything on the Halstead Gazette Facebook page. He 
never mentioned the initial complaint had gone to him and that he was 
speaking to the Chief Executive about it; 

 
(g) as he was aware of the complaint from the outset she believed that, as 

the Leader of her Group, he should have shown some leadership and 
spoken to her about the matter. At least to elicit her views and 
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comments on the issues raised with him in Ms Burrows-Wren’s email 
to him; 

 
(h) she believed that Councillor Butland influenced how the matter was 

handled and the subsequent investigation by how he dealt with the 
original communication from Ms Burrows-Wren. The complaint related 
to a grant application she submitted to the Council on behalf of a 
Community Group of which she was a Director. A fact that was openly 
acknowledged. When other Councillors with an interest in an 
organisation applying for a grant applied for a similar grant the matter 
was raised with the Councillor and resolved. She had been treated 
differently; 

 
(i) when Councillor Butland received the communication from Ms 

Burrows-Wren she believed he thought this was his opportunity to 
‘take me out’. This is due to the difficult relationship they had 
experienced from early 2016 which she explained in more detail 
below. Whilst she did not believe Councillor Butland exerted any 
pressure on the investigator appointed by the Council it is clear that he 
influenced how the correspondence from Ms Burrows-Wren was dealt 
with; 

 
(j) she also believed that Councillor Butland exerted some influence on 

the Council’s Monitoring Officer during the investigation. This was 
evidenced by the use of language in correspondence she received 
from the Monitoring Officer. In one email the Monitoring Officer 
referred to a ‘robust’ exchange, this was exactly how Councillor 
Butland referred to a telephone conversation she had with him; 

 
(k) having influenced the handling of the matter Councillor Butland then 

went on to intimidate her during the course of the investigation carried 
out by Freeths. She believed that Councillor Butland informed various 
media outlets of the details of the complaint which were subsequently 
reported in the press with exclusive stories and leaked to BBC Radio 
Essex. This was very intimidating and lead to the public perception of 
her being severely diminished; 

 
(l) throughout this period Councillor Butland offered no support to her 

which she believed was part of his role as Leader of her Group. The 
only contact she had with him was when he summoned her to a 
meeting in June 2018. His summons to the meeting was not clear so 
she emailed him to seek clarification. His response was that it was to 
establish the facts relating to the grant application and to third party 
issues; 

 
(m) Councillor Butland also reported the issues to Councillor David Finch, 

Leader of Essex County Council. At this point she was advised to 
leave the Essex County Council Conservative Group; 

 
(n) the meeting with Councillor Butland was held on 15 June 2018 and 

attended by her, Councillor Butland, Councillor Madden and Councillor 
McKee. At the meeting she felt that she was being interrogated by 
Councillor Butland. During the meeting Councillor Butland produced 
bank statements for her business which should have been personal to 
her. He also interrogated her on the transactions on these, which she 
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found extremely intimidating. His attitude to her during the meeting 
was that she should ‘sit there and shut up’. The outcome of the 
meeting was that Councillor Butland was telling her how to run her 
business outside of the Council. He also instructed her not to contact 
Ms Burrows-Wren. She considered this unreasonable as she was still 
trying to complete Ms Burrows-Wren’s request to be removed as a 
Director of the business; 

 
(o) as referred to earlier, her relationship with Councillor Butland 

deteriorated in early 2016. This was after nine years of working 
together on the District Council’s Cabinet. About a year prior to the 
County Council elections held in May 2017 she and Councillor Butland 
were on a list of prospective candidates for seats on the County 
Council. They were called to a selection meeting in front of the Party 
Executive. At the end of the morning she was informed that she had 
been successful in being selected as a candidate for a seat; 

 
(p) the seat she was selected for was the seat that Councillor Butland 

wanted. At that point their relationship changed. As she was on her 
way home from the selection interview Councillor Butland rang her, 
she pulled over to answer his call. Councillor Butland wanted her to 
give up the seat so he could stand. He stated that he had done a lot 
for her over the years, he was a senior long standing conservative of 
50 years and she should stand down for him. It was described by 
Councillor Butland as a robust conversation on his part, which she has 
described, over a four year period, as bullying behaviour by a senior 
Conservative male on a junior female colleague; 

 
(q) about two weeks after this that Councillor Butland informed her that he 

had removed her from external regional and national bodies such as 
the Essex County Council Health and Well being Board and Executive 
Board of the LGiU national Political Think Tank, of which she had 
served effectively and professionally for many years gaining 
shortlisting as Councillor of the Year for her work at Braintree District 
Council by the LGiU. She was also stripped of all the positions she 
held on the Council. Councillor Butland refused to discuss the 
telephone call. He escalated the intimidation through the newspaper 
which published a front page article which referred to the ‘mystery’ of 
her removal from the Cabinet. People commented to her that he would 
do this. The Council or Councillor Butland made no comment; 

 
(r) the Conservative Party did look into the matter between June and 

December 2016. This resulted in a meeting between Councillor 
Butland and senior members of the Conservative Party, including a 
Senior Conservative Regional Field Director appointed to act on her 
formal complaint to the Conservative Party about the level of bullying 
towards her by Councillor Butland. This included being harassed 
singled out and victimised on social media and in the local and 
regional press. At the meeting Councillor Butland said that with 
hindsight he regretted the phone call and would work to rehabilitate 
her back into the Conservative Group. This never happened and 
Councillor Butland continue to use his power over her, writing (for 
example) to Group members and regional members encouraging them 
not to vote for her in the national annual ballot for the Conservative 
Councillors National Board; 
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(s) with regard to the selection process for the County Council seats 

Councillor Butland appealed so the selection was rerun. She was 
selected for a different seat and Councillor Butland was selected for 
the seat she had originally been selected for; 

 
(t) she continued to be a Conservative Councillor between 2016 and 

2019 despite a very difficult relationship between her and Councillor 
Butland who continued to be the Leader of the Group. 

 
(u) at one stage she was approached by Councillor Rory Love who was 

the Chair of the National Conservative Councillors’ Board who had 
been told by Councillor Butland of her alleged fraudulent behaviour. 
Councillor Love commented that he considered Councillor Butland had 
not followed the correct process in advising other Conservative Party 
Members not to vote for her in the process of the national ballot and 
that she should watch her back. She found the advice from Councillor 
Rory Love, a friend and colleague, who was warning her that 
Councillor Butland was using his power over her to try and ruin her 
political journey. She felt as if Councillor Butland was stalking her and 
was using social media, emails and private meetings to try and destroy 
her political successes. Despite this for two years running she polled 
enough votes in the National Ballot to secure a seat on the 
Conservative Councillor Board; 

 
(v) this was clearly having an effect on her wellbeing. In the end her family 

recognised that the treatment she was receiving was having a 
detrimental effect on her health so she resigned from the Conservative 
Party and from the District Council; 

 
(w) when Freeths had finalised its report she was asked to attend a 

meeting of the Essex County Council Conservative Group Leaders.  
Councillor Butland was aware of the meeting but was not present.  
Minutes after the meeting she received a call from BBC Essex for a 
response. The meeting was confidential yet it was leaked; 

 
(x) during the period 2016 – 2019 inclusive it felt as though she was being 

stalked by Councillor Butland who was using his power and political 
positions to try and destroy her personally, politically and 
professionally; 

 
(y) the final part of her complaint related to Councillor Butland’s conduct 

at a meeting of the Council on 16 December 2019. Whilst she was 
speaking Councillor Butland interrupted and said words to the effect “I 
don’t have to put up with this stupid type of thing”. When she stood 
and said that his behaviour was inappropriate Councillor Butland sat 
down and held above his head a copy of Freeths report into the 
complaint against her and said, “I have been waiting 3 months for 
this”. She felt embarrassed, harassed, intimidated and publicly 
exposed. The behaviour was premedicated and the fact that Councillor 
Butland, who carried very little paper, had this document to hand 
exposed the fact that his priority was to make her his victim and for 
him to continue to publicly destroy her. This behaviour was a display of 
consistent behaviour by Councillor Butland, over a four year period, to 
victimise and intimidate her; 
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(b) in April 2018 she received correspondence from the District Council 

regarding a successful grant application submitted by the Foundation. 
She was concerned that the grant appeared to have been made in her 
name when she was no longer a Director of the Foundation; 

 
(c) as she was concerned about this she googled ‘Leader of Braintree 

District Council’ and obtained the contact details of Councillor Butland. 
She had no knowledge of Councillor Butland having never had any 
reason to deal with him. She sent an email to Councillor Butland on 14 
April 2018 expressing her concern. Councillor Butland responded 
saying that he could not deal with the matter but would refer it to Ian 
Hunt; 

 
(d) after the initial email to Councillor Butland all contact between her and 

the Council was through Ian Hunt as Councillor Butland had made it 
clear that he could not deal with the matter. Sometime later she was 
contacted by Mr Stephen Pearson who was looking into the complaint 
on behalf of the Council; 

 
(e) the first time she met Councillor Butland was in June 2019 at the 

Volunteer Awards. This was over a year after she had contacted him 
with her concerns. 

 
Councillor John McKee 

 
4.25 Councillor McKee was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 1 April 2020 from which a 

statement was prepared (attached at WC 7). Councillor McKee said:- 
 
(a) he was an elected member of Braintree District Council having been 

first elected in May 2007. Prior to being appointed to serve on the 
Council’s Cabinet in 2012 he was the Deputy Cabinet Member for 
Finance. Since 2012 he had held a number of Cabinet roles and 
currently held the portfolio for Corporate Transformation. Since 2018 
he had had been the Chairman of the Braintree Conservative 
Association. In 2011 he was appointed by the Council as a Trustee of 
the Braintree District Museum Trust to help sort out their finances. 
Prior to retirement he was employed running finance teams most 
recently the UK team at SAS Data; 

 
(b) he was aware of an email sent by Ms Burrows-Wren and that it caused 

concern to Councillor Butland as it referred to what could appear to be 
an accidental or deliberate fraudulent grant application. Councillor 
Butland was concerned about the potential impact this could have on 
the reputation of the Council and the Conservative Group; 

 
(c) he attended a meeting in the Leader’s Office at the Council offices on 

15 June 2018 with Councillor Butland, Councillor Beavis and 
Councillor Dick Madden. He was present at the invitation of Councillor 
Butland, Councillor Beavis was accompanied by Councillor Madden, a 
member of Essex County Council. The purpose of the meeting was to 
give Councillor Beavis the opportunity to respond to the allegations in 
the email from Ms Burrows-Wren; 
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(d) the possible outcome could have been the suspension of Councillor 
Beavis from the Conservative Group pending the outcome of the 
investigation into the allegations. For what he believed to be logical 
reasons Councillor Butland decided not to take any action. He 
believed Councillor Butland had regard to the history of complaints 
made by Councillor Beavis and that any action he took would result in 
her making a complaint of bullying by him; 

 
(e) he knew that Councillor Butland was emotional during the meeting. 

Councillor Beavis continually challenged the issues raised in the email 
and denied the allegations made. At one point Councillor Madden, 
who was supporting her, took her outside of the room to have a private 
discussion with her. When they returned Councillor Beavis continued 
on the same tack until Councillor Madden intervened and said “just 
read the paper”. To which she read a none committal statement; 

 
(f) in a private conversation with Councillor Madden and Councillor 

Butland after the meeting Councillor Madden said he couldn’t 
understand why, with the evidence provided, she had not been 
suspended. Councillor Madden also couldn’t understand why the 
matter had not been referred to the police as a potential case of fraud; 

 
(g) Councillor Butland was clearly distressed by the matter and concerned 

about the possibility of allegations being made against him. At no point 
during the meeting was Councillor Butland confrontational; 

 
(h) it was evident that Councillor Madden was frustrated by Councillor 

Beavis’ conduct during the meeting. He believed that all Caroline 
Burrows-Wren wanted was an acknowledgement from Councillor 
Beavis that the grant application was inaccurate. Had that been 
forthcoming at that meeting he believed this could have been resolved 
satisfactorily. 

 
Councillor Dick Madden 

 
4.26 Councillor Madden was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 1 April 2020 from which 

a statement was prepared (attached at WC 8). Councillor Madden said:- 
 
(a) he was an elected member of Essex County Council having been first 

elected in June 2011. In May 2013 he was appointed to the County 
Council’s Cabinet with responsibility for Children and Families, in May 
2019 he took over as the Cabinet Member for Performance, Business 
Planning and Partnerships. Prior to retirement he was an officer in 
Essex Police achieving the rank of Chief Superintendent. He had 
known Councillor Butland since he was elected to the County Council 
in 2011 as Councillor Butland was also a County Councillor; 
 

(b) he asked to see Councillor Beavis in June 2018 in his capacity as 
Chief Whip for the Conservative Group on the County Council, the 
Whip having responsibility for party discipline, conduct etc. The 
complaint against her had come to their attention and they wanted to 
discuss the matter with her from the County Council’s perspective. At 
this meeting Councillor Beavis asked if he would accompany her to a 
meeting at the District Council, that was 15 June 2018; 
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(c) he explained to Councillor Beavis how the meeting should go and that 
she should restrict her comments to making a statement. They 
attended the meeting which had been called by Councillor Butland as 
Leader of the Conservative Group on the District Council; who was 
also Leader of the Council. Also in attendance was District Councillor 
John McKee supporting Councillor Butland; 

 
(d) once the meeting commenced Councillor Beavis continued to stray 

from her statement. He asked permission that the meeting be 
adjourned whilst he had the opportunity to speak to Councillor Beavis 
outside the meeting room. He took her out and told her that she should 
focus on the short statement. When they returned to the meeting she 
did generally keep to the agreed statement; 

 
(e) the meeting was properly conducted, and it was clearly explained that 

they were dealing with the matter in respect of the Braintree Council 
Conservative Group. It was also explained that the actual complaint 
was being dealt with by the Council’s Monitoring Officer. The outcome 
of the meeting was that no further action would be taken. This was 
fully explained to Councillor Beavis; 

 
(f) in his opinion Councillor Beavis needed to take the advice that was 

being offered to her; 
 
(g) the meeting was not confrontational, in fact he thought it was very 

constructive. There was definitely no intimidation or bullying. Clearly 
Councillor Beavis found the situation emotional but that was not due to 
the conduct of those at the meeting; 

 
(h) at the conclusion of the meeting Councillor Butland stated he did not 

intend to withdraw the Conservative Whip or take any other action 
against Councillor Beavis until the outcome of the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer’s findings were known; 

 
(i) after the meeting he prepared a report for the Leader of the County 

Council. 
 

Councillor Wendy Schmitt 
 

4.27 Councillor Schmitt was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 2 April 2020 from which 
a statement was prepared (attached at WC 9). Councillor Schmitt said:- 
 
(a) she was an elected member of Braintree District Council having been 

first elected in 2004. She was previously involved in politics as a 
Councillor in the early 1970’s. She had been a member of the 
Council’s Cabinet since 2005 holding various roles currently being the 
Portfolio Holder for Environment and Place. She was Deputy Leader of 
the Council for six years; 

 
(b) the history of the breakdown in the relationship between Councillor 

Butland and Councillor Beavis goes back some years to about 2014. 
At the time the then Member of Parliament for the Braintree area 
resigned and Councillor Beavis and others had aspirations to be 
selected for the vacant seat; 
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(c) during the selection process for the prospective candidate there was 
extensive communication with Conservative Central Office by those 
aspiring to be selected for the seat. After much conflict locally the local 
Association was put into special measures and Central Office stepped 
in and took over the selection process. The atmosphere within the 
local association became very unpleasant. Councillor Butland found 
himself in the middle of the conflict as one of those who aspired to be 
selected for the seat wanted him to write to Central Office regarding 
the selection process which Councillor Butland declined to do; 

 
(d) things continued to deteriorate and when a new Council was elected in 

2016 there was a group of Conservative Councillors, including 
Councillor Beavis, who thought they could run the Council better than 
the current leadership. These Councillors began a campaign to gain 
support for a leadership challenge. In doing so they engaged in activity 
that was in breach of the Conservative Group’s rules; 

 
(e) at this time Councillor Butland had already been elected as Leader of 

the Group but due to the challenge he decided to stand down to allow 
another election to take place. Councillor Butland was duly re-elected 
as leader of the Group; 

 
(f) as those challenging the leadership had engaged in activity which was 

in breach of the Group’s rules a meeting was called to interview three 
of the Councillors who had been involved in the challenge. This 
meeting was held in 2017; 

 
(g) at the time she was Deputy Leader of the Group (and of the Council) 

and together with Councillor Tattersley, who was the Group Whip, they 
interviewed the three Councillors. Councillor Beavis was the first to be 
interviewed. She was aware that Councillor Beavis had recently been 
unwell so she began by asking her if she was well enough to continue 
with the interview. Councillor Beavis assured them she was; 

 
(h) when Councillor Beavis was asked if she was aware that the activity 

they had been engaged in was contrary to the Group Rules, she 
responded by saying that she had had a telephone conversation with 
one of the others regarding a specific rule and so she made sure that 
she only spoke on general matters. Councillor Beavis said that she 
was not involved with the invitations. When the other parties were 
interviewed it was put to them what Councillor Beavis had said. Their 
reaction was one of outrage that their colleague had dropped them in it 
without any warning; 

 
(i) for some time prior to these incidents she had been aware of 

Councillor Beavis’ political ambitions and at times had been concerned 
for her. At meetings Councillor Beavis often made long rambling 
speeches and she noticed that opposition Councillors would 
sometimes openly laugh at her. She tried to help, even inviting 
Councillor Beavis to her home on one occasion to try to provide some 
advice and guidance. She suggested training in public speaking which 
she was prepared to arrange. Councillor Beavis declined her help; 

 
(j) there was also conflict between Councillor Beavis and Councillor 

Butland during 2016 over the selection for the County Council 
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elections to be held in 2017. She knew that there was competition for 
some of the seats. She reluctantly allowed her name to be put forward 
as a paper candidate to ensure all seats were contested. Councillor 
Butland was at the time the County Councillor for Braintree Town 
Division which had seen a decline in the conservative vote over 
previous elections. His preference was a seat that had now become 
vacant as this was part of his District Council Ward; 

 
(k) the result of the selection was that Councillor Beavis was selected for 

the seat Councillor Butland wanted. She knew Councillor Butland was 
upset by this decision as the interview had not been conducted 
correctly under Party Rules and that he had telephoned Councillor 
Beavis to ask her if they could exchange seats. This contributed to the 
breakdown of the relationship; 

 
(l) over time Councillor Beavis’ conduct became more problematic as she 

interfered in the Portfolios of other Cabinet Members and in the Wards 
of other Councillors. It got to the stage where other Members of the 
Cabinet felt they could no longer work with Councillor Beavis, this 
resulted in her being removed from the Cabinet; 

 
(m) she worked with Councillor Butland for many years as a Cabinet 

Member and found him to be a very good Leader. He allowed the 
Cabinet Members to get on with their responsibilities with little 
interference. If anything went wrong his first reaction was to ask 
officers if there was a problem rather than apportioning blame. On 
occasion she had a difference of opinion with him, in particular if she 
was being the devil’s advocate. His reaction was always positive in 
that he would listen to ideas and discuss, he may not agree, but she 
always found it amicable; 

 
(n) with regard to the complaint submitted by Ms Burrows-Wren she was 

made aware of this by Councillor Butland in a private conversation 
following one of the weekly meetings of Cabinet Members and officers. 
At the time she was Deputy Leader of the Council, one of Councillor 
Butland’s strengths was keeping her, as his Deputy, fully informed; 

 
(o) Councillor Butland asked her if the name Burrows-Wren meant 

anything to her. She said, “yes it’s the lady who set up something with 
Jo [Councillor Beavis] there was a picture in the paper”. He then 
showed her correspondence that he had received. It indicated that a 
Councillor Community Grant that Councillor Beavis had applied for 
may not have reflected true facts and that if so it should not have been 
granted. He said he was concerned about some bank statements he 
had also received which showed transactions that did not appear to be 
relevant to the account, such as supermarkets etc. He asked if I knew 
what Pandora and other outlets were. I explained these were ladies 
clothing suppliers. There was also a payment for a spa resort; 

 
(p) Councillor Butland then informed her that he was not going to “touch 

this with a barge pole” and was going to pass it to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer for investigation. 
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Councillor Peter Tattersley 
 

4.28 Councillor Tattersley was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 2 April 2020 from 
which a statement was prepared (attached at WC 10). In the interview 
Councillor Tattersley said:- 
 
(a) he was an elected member of Braintree District Council having been 

first elected in May 2011. He served as the Deputy Cabinet Member to 
Councillor Beavis until 2016 when Councillor Beavis was removed 
from the Cabinet. He then took over the role of Cabinet Member for 
Health and Communities. In 2019 this became Health and Wellbeing. 
Until retirement in 2006 he was employed by Braintree District Council 
as Director of Operations; 

 
(b) on 15 July 2016 he attended a meeting called by Councillor Butland 

who was the Leader of the Conservative Group and Leader of the 
Council. The meeting was about a telephone call between Councillor 
Butland and Councillor Beavis which had taken place after a selection 
meeting for prospective Conservative candidates for the County 
Council elections to be held in 2017. He was present as a witness and 
to support Councillor Beavis, also present was Councillor Lady 
Newton who was invited by Councillor Butland; 

 
(c) Councillor Beavis was upset by the telephone call from Councillor 

Butland as she thought he was being unreasonable and difficult when 
he asked her to let him have the seat she had been selected for. He 
knew Councillor Beavis had ambitions to become a full-time politician. 
This led to a fall out between Councillor Beavis and Councillor 
Butland. Councillor Butland decided he could not work with her so, as 
Leader of the Council, he removed her from the Cabinet; 

 
(d) he thought the meeting was well conducted, Councillor Butland was 

very well prepared and quite amicable. Councillor Butland’s 
presentation was very measured and factual. Councillor Butland 
produced copies of emails that Councillor Beavis had sent to various 
people, Councillor Butland corrected some of the assertions she had 
made in those emails. Councillor Butland’s analysis of the situation 
was very forensic and followed a structured approach. There was no 
shouting or raised voices from either party; 

 
(e) after the meeting he went to the pub with Councillor Beavis he thought 

at the time she was more irritated than angry although he thought the 
implications of the decision hit her some time after. However, things 
moved on and he took over the Cabinet Portfolio; 

 
(f) the second meeting he was involved in was held on 14 September 

2017. This was a disciplinary meeting following an incident when 
Councillor Beavis, and other Councillors, attended a garden party and 
discussed issues with others outside of the Party; 

 
(g) Councillor Butland was not involved in this meeting, hearing the 

disciplinary issues with him was Councillor Schmitt. He understood 
that Councillor Beavis felt aggrieved that she had been disciplined by 
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the Conservative Party over the matter and that she might have 
viewed this as bullying by implication rather than direct bullying; 

 
(h) Councillor Beavis felt that she had been most severely dealt with; 

however, her treatment was no different to that of another Councillor 
which he was involved in at a similar meeting in October 2017. At this 
meeting he attended as the Chief Whip together with Councillor 
Butland. In both cases normal Party procedures were followed; 

 
(i) he had a lot of time for Councillor Beavis, she was, and is, a good 

Councillor and they worked well together when he was her Deputy 
Cabinet Member. Councillor Butland was a strong but good Leader of 
the Council. Councillor Beavis, in his opinion, was used to getting her 
own way and found it difficult to be told what to do; 

 
(j) at times Councillor Butland could be blunt, he had a very good recall of 

facts and figures and could present matters in a reasoned and concise 
manner. He never witnessed conduct from Councillor Butland that was 
anything other than what was expected in a political forum; 

 
(k) he thought Councillor Beavis felt aggrieved when Councillor Butland 

reported to the Council that she had been removed from the Cabinet. 
She was clearly upset and aggrieved by the selection process in 2016. 

 
Lady Patricia Newton 

 
4.29 Lady Newton was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 2 April 2020 from which a 

statement was prepared (attached at WC 11). In the interview Lady Newton 
said:- 
 
(a) she was an elected member of Braintree District Council between May 

2003 and May 2019. She also served as a Councillor between 1979 
and 1991. In recent years she served on the Council’s Cabinet holding 
a number of different portfolios most recently being the Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Development. She served as Chairman of 
the Council for 2 years; 
 

(b) in June 2016 she attended a meeting called by Councillor Butland who 
was the Leader of the Conservative Group and Leader of the Council. 
The purpose of the meeting was to discuss Councillor Beavis’ conduct. 
She was present at the invitation of Councillor Butland, also present 
was Councillor Beavis who was accompanied by Councillor Tattersley; 

 
(c) the meeting was very structured. Councillor Butland set out his 

position and explained the areas of Councillor Beavis’ conduct that 
were causing him concern. This related to allegations Councillor 
Beavis had been making about Councillor Butland. Councillor Butland 
supported his statements with evidence contained in emails sent by 
Councillor Beavis to various individuals. These were put to Councillor 
Beavis who was invited to comment. Councillor Beavis was unable to 
deny the central issue which was that she had shared certain 
information with individuals outside of the Conservative Group and 
outside the Council. It was evident that Councillor Beavis found the 
meeting uncomfortable but she was given plenty of time to respond to 
the issues raised; 
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(d) during the meeting she and Councillor Tattersley simply observed. At 

no time during the meeting did Councillor Butland raise his voice, nor 
was he aggressive. Councillor Butland was extremely polite, 
professional but persistent. This was consistent with Councillor 
Butland’s normal manner. She thought at the time Councillor Butland 
was unbelievably fair in light of the matter being considered; 

 
(e) during her time serving on the Council’s Cabinet whilst Councillor 

Butland was the Leader of the Council she believed they had a good 
working relationship. There were times when they disagreed on 
issues. She recalled two occasions when she was disappointed with 
how Councillor Butland dealt with something, however she was able to 
challenge him and he respected her opinion; 

 
(f) she often thought ‘is Councillor Beavis just naïve?’ as she appeared to 

lack an understanding of the workings of the Council and the role of 
Councillor. Councillor Beavis had conflicted interests and could not 
see the boundaries between her outside interests and her role as a 
councillor; 

 
(g) she never had reason to think that Councillor Butland had acted in a 

bullying or aggressive manner during her association with him. 
 

Andy Wright 
 

4.30 Andy Wright provided a detailed statement (attached at WC 12). In the 
statement Mr Wright said:- 
 
(a) he was the Chief Executive of Braintree District Council, a position he 

had held since February 2018. He was a Director on the Council’s 
Senior Management Team for 5 years until the former Chief Executive 
left in June 2017 when he was appointed as the Acting Chief 
Executive. Prior to joining the Council he was employed at a number 
of District Councils specialising in leisure and community and 
economic development; 
 

(b) in April 2018 he received an email forwarded by the Leader of the 
Council, Councillor Butland. The original email was from Caroline 
Burrows-Wren and was dated 14 April 2018, this was a Saturday. He 
received the email and immediately forwarded it to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, Ian Hunt, as it was a complaint about the Council 
and the conduct of a Councillor; 

 
(c) Ms Burrows-Wren raised concerns about a grant application that had 

been submitted to the Council by Councillor Beavis. Ms Burrows-Wren 
had been a co-director with Councillor Beavis of Braintree District 
Community Foundation CIC but had resigned as a director in 
November 2017. She was concerned that her name had been used on 
the grant application which was submitted after she had resigned; 

 
(d) after this he had limited involvement in the matter as it was being dealt 

with by Ian Hunt as the proper officer for such matters. After initial 
enquiries Ian Hunt appointed an external firm of Solicitors to carry out 
an investigation as there was evidence that the alleged conduct may 
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have included a breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct by Councillor 
Beavis; 

 
(e) during the course of normal Council business he had a weekly 

meeting with Councillor Butland as Leader of the Council. The issues 
raised by Ms Burrows-Wren were never a formal matter for discussion 
at these meetings however, on occasion Councillor Butland would 
enquire about progress. He never took this to be any attempt by 
Councillor Butland to put pressure on officers but was the natural 
concern of a Leader when the complaint was against a Member of his 
group; 

 
(f) he had no direct involvement with the investigation of the complaint or 

any formal contact with Councillor Butland regarding the matter, he 
was aware that Councillor Butland was at times frustrated by what he 
considered to be delays. he understood Councillor Butland believed 
these to be caused by Councillor Beavis attempting to avoid the 
matter; 

 
(g) the external solicitors finalised their report towards the end of 2018. 

Before the Monitoring Officer could deal with the report and refer it to a 
meeting of the Standards Committee Councillor Beavis resigned. This 
put an end to the process. Councillor Beavis was re-elected to the 
Council in May 2019. The matter was never formally raised following 
her re-election; 

 
(h) there was an incident at the Council meeting in December 2019 about 

which Councillor Beavis submitted a further complaint. This was when 
Councillor Beavis was speaking, Councillor Butland held a copy of the 
report produced by the solicitors into the earlier complaint against 
Councillor Beavis; 

 
(i) he confirmed that he saw the incident. Following this the Leader of the 

Green and Independent Group raised concerns about Councillor 
Butland’s conduct at the meeting which he passed onto the Monitoring 
Officer. 

Ian Hunt 
 

4.31 Ian Hunt was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 1 April 2020 from which a 
statement was prepared (attached at WC 13). In the interview Mr Hunt said:- 
 
(a) he was a qualified Solicitor and had worked in Local Government 

since 2002. From 2013 to February 2020 he was employed by 
Braintree District Council and held the statutory position of Monitoring 
Officer. He was now employed by Thurrock Council as Assistant 
Director of Law and Governance and also held the statutory position of 
Monitoring Officer for the Council; 
 

(b) in April 2018 he received an email from the Council’s Chief Executive 
which had been forwarded to him by Councillor Butland. The original 
email was from Caroline Burrows-Wren and was dated 14 April 2018, 
this was a Saturday. He received the email and responded to Ms 
Burrows-Wren on the Monday; 
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(c) the email contained information about a grant application to the 
Council submitted on behalf of Braintree District Community 
Foundation CIC. Ms Burrows-Wren raised concerns regarding the use 
of her name on the application when she had resigned as a Director of 
the Foundation in November 2018. Councillor Beavis was the only 
remaining Director of the Foundation when the grant application was 
submitted; 

 
(d) after considering the content of the email he first contacted Ms 

Burrows-Wren to clarify some of the details. His initial decision was to 
treat the allegations as a corporate matter rather than a standards 
complaint. This was because it related to the award of a grant by the 
Council; 

 
(e) he had further discussions with Ms Burrows-Wren before discussing 

the matter with Councillor Beavis. The purpose of his discussion with 
Councillor Beavis was to establish whether she accepted the 
information set out in the email; that was that Ms Burrows-Wren had 
resigned as a Director of the Foundation and should not have been 
included on the application for the grant. Councillor Beavis’ reaction 
was that it was all Ms Burrows-Wren’s fault as she had not properly 
resigned as a Director; 

 
(f) he then discussed this with the Chief Executive and decided that the 

matter should be considered as a standards complaint, to enable a 
formal consideration of the facts and potential code issues, and 
Councillor Beavis had completed the form in both her capacity of 
Director of the CIC and Councillor. Councillor Butland was aware of 
that decision but had no part in the consideration of the matter; 

 
(g) due to the nature of the complaint, knowledge of the history between 

Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis, and the lack of capacity 
within the Council to carry out an investigation, it was decided to 
appoint an external, independent investigator. Freeths Solicitors were 
selected following a competitive tendering process. The investigation 
was carried out by Stephen Pearson a Partner at Freeths; 

 
(h) Councillor Butland was aware of the decision to appoint an external 

investigator but had no part in the selection or appointment of Freeths; 
 
(i) throughout the period of the investigation Councillor Butland did 

regularly enquire of him or the Chief Executive on progress. Councillor 
Butland was not seeking any particular outcome but was concerned 
that the matter should be resolved. Also that as Group Leader the 
matter should be resolved for the benefit of Councillor Beavis who was 
a member of his Group; 

 
(j) Councillor Butland’s concern was that the matter should be 

investigated properly and resolved expeditiously so there was certainty 
for all concerned. Councillor Butland was also mindful that whatever 
the outcome the Council should be able to withstand scrutiny after the 
event. Councillor Butland wanted a certain outcome not a half-hearted 
look at the complaint, on occasions he explicitly stated he was not 
setting an expectation as to the result; 
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(k) during the investigation Councillor Butland did become irked at what 
he thought was Councillor Beavis’ attempts to delay the investigation. 
Despite this there was no instruction from Councillor Butland to take 
any form of action; 

 
(l) whilst not directly relevant to the investigation undertaken by Freeths, 

he was aware, Councillor Butland was concerned about the financial 
details relating to the Foundation. Councillor Butland was particularly 
concerned about some of the bank transactions detailed on bank 
statements provided by Ms Burrows-Wren. However, Councillor 
Butland considered this was not a matter for the Council. That said, 
Councillor Butland was concerned that it should not be brushed under 
the carpet as there were wider issues involved, but this was not a 
matter for the Council and therefore Councillor Butland did not provide 
the details to him or the Council; 

 
(m) Ms Burrows-Wren referred both the complaint about the grant 

application and the wider financial matters to Fraud Action. His advice 
to the Chief Executive and Councillor Butland was that there was no 
clear evidence of fraudulent activity, but if there was, he did not think 
the evidence met the CPS test for prosecution. However, in view of the 
circumstances, he prepared a report expressing his opinion that there 
was no evidence of fraud, this was submitted to Action Fraud 
principally to ensure that they had relevant contact details given the 
Councils involvement; 

 
(n) with regard to the meeting of the Council held on 16 December 2019, 

he was present. The incident referred to by Councillor Beavis occurred 
during the item on Questions to the Leader. Councillor Beavis asked a 
question to which the Leader responded. Councillor Beavis then 
started to ask a supplementary question during which she appeared to 
splutter and stop. At the time he was making notes so did not see what 
caused this or the action of Councillor Butland. He understood from a 
colleague who was also present that Councillor Butland did hold up a 
document which had the same front cover as the investigation report 
produced by Freeths. There was a short sequence of comments 
following this between both Councillors which he interpreted as being 
a reference to the complaints process, given the background he was 
aware of; 

 
(o) if, as it appeared, Councillor Butland held up this document it had no 

reference to the meeting or the question being raised by Councillor 
Beavis, He considered that it was certainly unnecessary and 
ungentlemanly conduct. 

 
Stephen Pearson 

 
4.32 Stephen Pearson was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 1 April 2020 from which a 

statement was prepared (attached at WC 14). In the interview Mr Pearson 
said:- 
 
(a) he had been a Partner at Freeths Solicitors for 15 years. After 

qualifying as a solicitor at Nottinghamshire County Council he held a 
number of positions in Local Government and in the private sector. He 
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had a Diploma in Local Government Law. He also served as a Parish 
Councillor; 
 

(b) he was instructed by the then Monitoring Officer, Ian Hunt, in August 
2018 to investigate a complaint submitted by Caroline Burrows-Wren 
regarding a grant application made by Councillor Beavis. Ms Burrows-
Wren and Councillor Beavis had both been Directors of the same 
company, Braintree District Community Foundation CIC; 

 
(c) during his investigation he had no contact at all with Councillor 

Butland. He was aware from comments made to him during the 
investigation that Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis were not 
on the best of terms despite being in the same political group. He did 
not enquire further about their relationship as it had no bearing or 
influence on the conduct of his investigation; 

 
(d) he was aware that Caroline Burrows-Wren had emailed the initial 

complaint to Councillor Butland who had immediately forwarded the 
email to the Council’s Monitoring Officer. He considered this to be the 
appropriate action by Councillor Butland. As Councillor Butland was 
not involved in the complaint he saw no need to contact him during the 
investigation; 

 
(e) during the investigation his dealings with the Council were through Ian 

Hunt, the Monitoring Officer. There was nothing in his dealings with 
the Monitoring Officer which suggested to him that he was under any 
pressure or being influenced by anybody regarding how the 
investigation was progressing; 

 
(f) he considered the matter was dealt with by the Council in an 

appropriate manner. As the complaint had the potential to be a high 
profile matter involving the Leader of the Council and a senior 
Councillor the Monitoring Officer was sensible, in his opinion, to 
engage an external independent investigator; 

 
(g) from his contact with the complainant, Caroline Burrows-Wren, it was 

clear that she took the matter seriously and was very upset that her 
name had been used by Councillor Beavis on the grant application. He 
believed she felt the Council’s response to her concerns was an 
appropriate way to deal with the matter; 

 
(h) at the conclusion of the investigation a report was produced for the 

Monitoring Officer. The report and its conclusions were not influenced 
by anybody other than him. 

 
Nigel McCrea 

 
4.33 Mr McCrea was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 1 April 2020 from which a 

statement was prepared (attached at WC 15). In the interview Mr McCrea 
said:- 
 
(a) he was an elected member of Braintree District Council between May 

2003 and 2011. He was Chairman of the Braintree Conservative 
Association from 2015 to 2018 and was the current Treasurer of the 
Association. Until retirement he was employed at senior management 
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level for over 20 years most recently as managing director of an 
international pet food company. He had known Councillor Butland 
since he was elected to the District Council in 2003; 
 

(b) he invited Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis to a meeting at his 
house which was held in November 2016 to try to resolve a matter that 
started in June 2016; 
 

(c) on 26 June 2016 he chaired the selection panel of potential candidates 
for the forthcoming Essex County Council elections. Both Councillor 
Butland and Councillor Beavis were interviewed as part of the 
selection process. Both of them were successful although Councillor 
Beavis was selected for the area that Councillor Butland wanted to 
stand in; 

 
(d) he was aware that Councillor Butland telephoned Councillor Beavis 

regarding the selection. He suspected that Councillor Butland was 
quite forceful during the telephone conversation which may have been 
seen by Councillor Beavis as bullying; 

 
(e) as the situation had been ongoing for about four months with little sign 

of being resolved he decided, as Chairman of the Association, to invite 
them to his house to bring them together. At the meeting both 
Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis admitted that the reaction 
had been a bit strong. Councillor Beavis acknowledged that she had 
not raised her concerns in the proper way by involving others outside 
the local Association. Councillor Butland apologised for his actions; 

 
(f) Councillor Beavis also apologised and undertook not to react in the 

same manner in the future. He recalled that the meeting ended with 
Councillor Beavis putting her arm round Councillor Butland and saying 
something like “I’m glad this is all over Graham”; 

 
(g) Councillor Beavis was quite ambitious and was good at self-publicity. It 

appeared at times that to achieve her ambitions or to overcome 
opposition she thought the solution was to cry bullying; 

 
(h) Councillor Beavis left the Conservative Party when there were 

allegations against her of inappropriate use of funds; 
 
(i) he believed that at times Councillor Butland tried hard not to come 

across as being too forceful. He knew that during the investigation of 
the complaint against Councillor Beavis, Councillor Butland stood back 
and took no part in the process; 

 
(j) he had never witnessed bullying behaviour by Councillor Butland 

which he was sure he would recognise having witnessed bullying 
during his professional career. 

 
Councillor Butland 

 
4.34 Councillor Butland was interviewed by Mr Tasker on 2 April 2020 from which 

contemporaneous noted were made (attached at WC 16). In the interview 
Councillor Butland said:- 
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(a) he had been a member of Braintree District Council May 2003. He 
became Leader of the Council in 2004, a position he had held since 
then; 
 

(b) he explained that his involvement with the complaint against Councillor 
Beavis was limited. It commenced when he received an email from 
Caroline Burrows-Wren on 14 April 2018. The email contained 
information about a grant application submitted to the Council by 
Councillor Beavis. Ms Burrows-Wren became aware of the grant 
application when she received communication from the Council 
indicating that the application had been successful. She was surprised 
to receive the communication as in November 2017 she had resigned 
from the position of Director of the organisation to which the grant had 
been awarded. Ms Burrows-Wren was worried about her name being 
used on the grant application. At this stage he did not know Ms 
Burrows-Wren, he had never communicated with her; 

 
(c) he responded to Ms Burrows-Wren acknowledging receipt of the email. 

The same day he emailed Councillor Schmitt, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council (and Conservative Group) and Councillor Tattersley, the Group 
Whip with details of the email from Ms Burrows-Wren. He transferred 
the email from his Council email account to his private account. At this 
stage he said he was inclined to refer the matter to the Council’s Chief 
Executive, which was agreed by Councillors Schmitt and Tattersley; 

 
(d) he forwarded the email to the Chief Executive on the same day as he 

received it. He acknowledged that he had occasional conversations 
with the Chief Executive about the matter whilst the complaint was 
being investigated as he was concerned about how long it was taking; 

 
(e) in the meantime, Ms Burrows-Wren received what she considered to 

be threatening emails and telephone calls from Councillor Beavis. Ms 
Burrows-Wren also received three telephone calls from Councillor 
Howard Rolfe (Leader of Uttlesford District Council) who also tried to 
contact her by text message; 

 
(f) Ms Burrows-Wren was accused by Councillor Beavis of disclosing 

information to the press about the matter. Ms Burrows-Wren received 
written confirmation from the press that it was not her who had 
provided the information. He did not contact the press although with 
hindsight he thought he should have done to also have it confirmed 
that it was not him who had disclosed any information to them; 

 
(g) during the process of the investigation he received permission from Ms 

Burrows-Wren to share the information contained in the original email. 
He considered he had to share the information with the Leader of 
Essex County Council as Councillor Beavis was a County Councillor 
and a member of the County Council Conservative Group; 

 
(h) in August 2018 he received an email from Ms Burrows-Wren indicating 

that she was considering referring the matter to the Police. He 
suggested to her that she should await the outcome of the Council’s 
investigation before taking any further action; 
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(i) in November or December 2018, the Council’s investigation was 
eventually concluded and a report was produced by Stephen Pearson. 
He did not know who Stephen Pearson was, he had never met him. Ms 
Burrows-Wren rang him whilst he was driving to inform him that she 
had a copy of the report, he had not seen the report. Ms Burrows-Wren 
asked him if he wanted to know what it said. He asked her if the report 
had any embargo or any indication she should not share the content, 
she stated that it did not. As he was driving he said to just tell him the 
outcome. Ms Burrows-Wren read paragraphs 8.1 and 8.2 of the report 
to him. He was surprised at how blunt the conclusion was; 

 
(j) he did not receive a copy of the report at any stage during the 

investigation. Several weeks after the telephone call from Ms Burrows-
Wren he asked officers at the Council if he was entitled to see a copy 
of the report. The report was eventually issued and would have been 
reported to the Standards Committee but Councillor Beavis resigned 
from the Council which stopped the process as there was nothing the 
Council could do once she ceased to be a Councillor; 

 
(k) other than that, he had no involvement with or input into how the 

complaint submitted by Ms Burrows-Wren had been handled by the 
Council or indeed the subsequent investigation. He had not met 
Councillor Beavis in a one to one situation for years as he was not 
prepared to put himself in a position which could give her the 
opportunity to make unfounded allegations against him without other 
witnesses; 

 
(l) when asked about Councillor Beavis’ allegation that he had denied all 

knowledge of the complaint Councillor Butland explained that this 
related to a message he received from Councillor Beavis whilst he was 
in Norfolk with his grandchildren. The message was about something in 
the press relating to the complaint. His denial was that as he was away 
he had not seen what was in the press which Councillor Beavis was 
referring to. He provided copies of the emails; 

 
(m) with regard to the allegation of bullying during a period of three years 

as a Member of the Conservative Party, he believed this was a Party 
matter not a Council matter and therefore not subject to the Council’s 
Code of Conduct. Nevertheless, he thought this was a reference to the 
start of a breakdown of the relationship between him and Councillor 
Beavis who was a Member of his Cabinet; 

 
(n) in 2016 the Conservative Party was selecting prospective candidates 

for the County Council elections to be held in May 2017. Both he and 
Councillor Beavis were interviewed by Party officials from the local 
association. The outcome was that Councillor Beavis was selected to 
stand in the seat that he wished to stand in. After the selection he 
telephoned Councillor Beavis to discuss swapping seats. He described 
that call as robust on both sides but emphasised it was not him who 
used foul and abusive language; 

 
(o) after this he was aware that Councillor Beavis was talking to people 

about him and making unfounded allegations. This resulted in him 
engaging a solicitor to try to resolve the conflict. Councillor Beavis 
denied any inappropriate behaviour or that she had spoken to anybody. 
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He had copies of emails and texts she had sent, as well as third party 
statements, which showed that she had been making unfounded 
allegations about him; 

 
(p) in response to this, in June 2016 he invited Councillor Beavis to a 

meeting to discuss her behaviour. The meeting was attended by him 
accompanied by Councillor Lady Newton and Councillor Beavis 
accompanied by Councillor Tattersley. At the meeting Councillor 
Beavis denied making allegations about him, confirming her written 
denial in a previous email to Councillor Butland. When he produced 
copies of emails and screen shots of texts she had sent she went quiet. 
At the meeting Councillor Butland stated that there was clearly a lack of 
trust between the pair of them and as a result he would be removing 
her from the Braintree District Council Cabinet; 

 
(q) the difficulties continued until November 2016 when the local 

Conservative Party dealt with the matter. Councillor Butland and 
Councillor Beavis were invited to a meeting at the home of the 
Conservative Party Chairman, Nigel McCrea, to try to resolve the 
differences between them. The outcome of that meeting was that both 
he and Councillor Beavis signed an agreement in which they both 
agreed that they were satisfied with the outcome of the meeting. As 
they left Councillor Beavis put her arms around him. He provided a 
copy of the agreement signed by both parties; 

 
(r) in October 2017 Councillor Beavis was involved in a challenge to his 

leadership of the Conservative Group. He did not want a period of 
infighting to continue for 6-7 months so decided to resign as Leader to 
facilitate an election. He indicated he was prepared to stand again if 
anyone wished to nominate him. He was nominated and re-elected as 
Leader of the Group by 34 votes to 9. Following complaints from other 
members about the actions of Councillor Beavis and two other 
Conservative Councillors, it was agreed that, under the Conservative 
Group rules, a disciplinary investigation would be held. The rules 
empowered the Group Leader to carry out any such investigation. He 
decided that given the situation between Councillor Beavis and himself 
he would not participate in the investigation and appointed the Deputy 
Leader to carry it out; 

 
(s) in 2018, when it was confirmed that the complaint by Ms Burrows-Wren 

against Councillor Beavis would be investigated he felt as Group 
Leader he needed to consider whether any action should be taken. He 
wrote to Councillor Beavis as the Group Leader suggesting a meeting 
to hear her comments on the matter. Councillor Beavis responded 
saying the dates he had provided were not suitable but that she was 
available on 15 June 2018. He re-arranged his diary for that date to 
facilitate the meeting. At the meeting he was accompanied by 
Councillor John McKee. Councillor Beavis was accompanied by 
Councillor Dick Madden (Conservative Chief Whip at Essex County 
Council). The purpose of the meeting was to consider what effect the 
allegations made by Ms Burrows-Wren might have on Councillor 
Beavis’ position in the Group, it was not to investigate the allegations; 
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(t) one item which had no relevance to the Council related to bank 
statements of one of the Community Interest Companies that 
Councillor Beavis was a Director of. These statements identified 
payments which did not appear to relate to the business of the 
organisation. He stated that he did not feel that this was a matter for 
investigation by Braintree District Council. His concern at this stage 
was that the conduct of Councillor Beavis should not bring the 
Conservative Group into disrepute and whether she should be 
suspended from the Group pending the outcome of the Council’s 
investigation. He decided that he would not suspend Councillor Beavis 
pending the outcome of any enquiry. He advised her not to draw 
people in to the issue and not to contact Ms Burrows-Wren. He was 
aware that Councillor Rolfe had been contacting Ms Burrows-Wren on 
her behalf; 

 
(u) in a private discussion immediately after the meeting Councillor 

Madden asked him why he was not reporting Councillor Beavis to the 
Police. He told Councillor Madden that Councillor Beavis had been 
making complaints against him since 2016 and was mindful that if he 
did so it would probably lead to further complaints; 

 
(v) after the meeting he wrote to Councillor Beavis informing her that no 

action regarding the alleged fraudulent Grant application would be 
taken pending the outcome of the Council’s investigation. There had 
been a number of occasions during this period where he had 
reasonable justification to take action over the conduct of Councillor 
Beavis but he had resisted; 

 
(w) in February 2019 he received a letter from Councillor Beavis stating 

that she was resigning from the Council to devote more time to the 
community shop. This put an end to the consideration of the report. On 
26 February 2019 Mrs Beavis submitted a complaint about him; 

 
(x) in the meantime (possibly 13 February 2019) Councillor Madden 

referred the grant application and the payments from the bank to Essex 
Police. On 28 February he received a letter from Essex Police. He was 
not aware why he had received the letter other than it said the Police 
would not be investigating the matter and that it should be dealt by the 
Council. He responded to the Police setting out his concern that the 
Council was not in a position to do anything as Mrs Beavis was no 
longer a Councillor. The Police response was that Mrs Beavis was still 
an Essex County Councillor and the grant money had been used as 
intended; 

 
(y) he spoke to the Council’s Chief Executive about the outcome as he 

was not happy as the complainant had not received a satisfactory 
answer to her complaint; 

 
(z) there was a report in the Halstead Gazette, in March 2019, under a 

heading ‘Police confirm no criminal probe into councillor’. In the article 
a number of quotes were attributed to Mrs Beavis or Councillor Beavis 
(still being a County Councillor). These included the following 
statement “Mrs Beavis has since made a complaint to the Conservative 
Party, Essex Police and Braintree District Council against a serving 
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Braintree district councillor over alleged inappropriate behaviour.” He 
felt that this statement referred to him; 

 
(aa) at a meeting of the Conservative Group in March 2019 he informed the 

Group that he believed that the reference in the press to a Councillor 
being investigated was a reference to him as Mrs Beavis had submitted 
a complaint about him on 26 February. He informed the members of 
the Group that he felt that the allegations made by Mrs Beavis were of 
such a serious nature that he had written to the Council’s Chief 
Executive referring himself to the Standards Committee and that, given 
his position as Council Leader, there should be an independent inquiry; 

 
(bb) in May 2019 Councillor Beavis was re-elected to the District Council as 

an Independent; 
 
(cc) Councillor Beavis submitted a further complaint against him following a 

meeting of the Council held on 16 December 2019. A webcast of the 
meeting could be viewed on the Council’s website. At the meeting 
Councillor Beavis was speaking. Whilst she was speaking he held a 
copy of the report produced by Freeths following the complaint against 
her. He did not hold it up or wave it about; he simply held it on the 
desk. It was clear Councillor Beavis could see the front of the report 
although not many of the others present would have been able to see 
what it was; 

 
(dd) he explained that the reason he did this was frustration. The report was 

a public document that had been produced for the Council. Councillor 
Beavis had used the system by resigning from the Council before the 
report could be considered in an appropriate manner to avoid being 
answerable for her actions; 

 
(ee) whilst he did not object to matters that had taken place prior to Mrs 

Burrows-Wren submitting her complaint being referred to, they had 
been dealt with by the Conservative Party. He felt that as regards the 
current inquiry it should be confined to the issues surrounding the 
complaint by Ms Burrows-Wren. He considered he had dealt with the 
complaint from Ms Burrows-Wren appropriately by referring it to the 
Council’s Chief Executive and informing the Conservative Group 
Officers. He had never put himself in a position that would give 
Councillor Beavis any justification to make allegations that he had 
bullied her. He said that his decisions not to participate in the 
Conservative Group disciplinary investigation into the actions of 
Councillor Beavis and, more particularly, his decision not to withdraw 
the Group Whip at the meeting in June 2018 were clear examples of a 
tolerant and non-bullying approach by him. He reiterated that he firmly 
denied inappropriately influencing the investigation, bullying and 
harassment of Mrs Beavis, “stalking type behaviours”, intimidation and 
victimisation, all of which were alleged by Mrs Beavis in her written 
complaint submitted to Braintree District Council. 
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5. Summary of the material facts  
 
5.1 Councillor Graham Butland is a member of Braintree Town Council. He is 

Leader of the Conservative Group and Leader of the Council. 
 
5.2 Both Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis were elected to the Council in 

May 2003. Councillor Butland became Leader of the Council in 2004. 
 

5.3 The Leader of the Council has the power to appoint councillors to serve on 
the Council’s Cabinet. That power also extends to removing Councillors from 
Cabinet positions. Councillor Butland appointed Councillor Beavis to serve on 
the Cabinet in 2007. 
 

5.4 On 26 June 2016 the Conservative Party undertook a selection process for 
potential candidates to stand in the Essex County Council elections to be held 
in May 2016. Both Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis were interviewed 
as potential candidates. 
 

5.5 Following the interviews both Councillor Beavis and Councillor Butland were 
informed that they had been selected as candidates and allocated an 
electoral division in which they would stand. Councillor Butland was aware 
that Councillor Beavis had been selected for the division which was his first 
preference. Later on the same day Councillor Butland telephoned Councillor 
Beavis to discuss swapping the divisions they had been selected for. The 
telephone call became heated. 
 

5.6 The selection process was entirely a Conservative Party matter and had no 
relevance to either Councillors position as members of Braintree District 
Council. The Conservative Party resolved the matter and Councillor Butland 
was selected for the division which had been his first choice, Councillor 
Beavis was allocated a different division to stand in. 
 

5.7 In June 2016 Councillor Butland invited Councillor Beavis to a meeting to 
discuss her conduct. Councillor Butland was accompanied by Councillor Lady 
Newton, Councillor Beavis was accompanied by Councillor Tattersley. After 
the meeting Councillor Butland removed Councillor Beavis from the Council’s 
Cabinet. 
 

5.8 Over the next few months the relationship between Councillor Beavis and 
Councillor Butland deteriorated. In November 2016 the Chairman of the Local 
Conservative Association, Nigel McCrea, invited both Councillors to his home 
to try to resolve the matter. An agreement was reached where each party 
apologised for their conduct and signed a document acknowledging their 
behaviour and agreeing to move forward. 
 

5.9 In September 2017 a further meeting was held involving Councillor Beavis’ 
and her alleged behaviour. This was a Conservative Party meeting. Councillor 
Butland was not involved in this meeting. 
 

5.10 In March 2018 Councillor Beavis submitted a grant application to the Council 
for funding for the Braintree District Community Foundation CIC. Councillor 
Beavis was the Director of the CIC. The application included the details of 
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another Director, Caroline Burrows-Wren. Ms Burrows-Wren had resigned as 
a Director in November 2017. 
 

5.11 In April 2018 Ms Burrows-Wren received correspondence from the Council 
informing her that the grant application had been successful. As she was no 
longer a Director of the CIC she sent an email to Councillor Butland, as 
Leader of the Council, setting out her concerns. 
 

5.12 Councillor Butland forwarded the email from Ms Burrows-Wren to the 
Council’s Chief Executive, Andy Wright, who forwarded it to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, Ian Hunt. The Monitoring Officer decided that the 
allegations in the email indicated that there was a possibility that the conduct 
of Councillor Beavis may have breached the Council’s Code of Conduct. In 
August 2018 the matter was referred to an external firm of solicitors for 
investigation. 
 

5.13 On 15 June 2018 Councillor Butland invited Councillor Beavis to a meeting to 
discuss the allegations in the email from Ms Burrows-Wren. The purpose of 
the meeting was to consider the implications of the complaint and how they 
may impact on the reputation of the Conservative Group. Others present were 
Councillor McKee and Councillor Madden a member of Essex County 
Council. 
 

5.14 The outcome of the meeting was that the Conservative Group would not take 
any action against Councillor Beavis pending the outcome of the Monitoring 
Officer’s investigation. 
 

5.15 Between August and the end of 2018 the complaint was investigated by 
Stephen Pearson of Freeths Solicitors. A final report was provided to the 
Monitoring Officer. The finding in the report was that Councillor Beavis had 
failed to comply with the requirements of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

5.16 Councillor Beavis resigned from the Conservative Party and the District 
Council on 1 February 2019. This was before the Council had the opportunity 
to consider the investigator’s report and take any action in respect of the 
finding of a breach of the Code of Conduct. 
 

5.17 On 26 February 2019 Mrs Beavis submitted a complaint to the Monitoring 
Officer regarding the conduct of Councillor Butland which is the subject of this 
report. 
 

5.18 Councillor Beavis was re-elected to the Council in May 2019 as an 
Independent. 
 

5.19 Both Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis attended a meeting of the 
Council on 16 December 2019. During the meeting Councillor Beavis asked a 
question of Councillor Butland as Leader of the Council. The webcast of the 
meeting shows that after answering the question there was indistinct 
comments which seem to include Councillor Beavis asking another question. 
Councillor Butland can be heard to say “Madam Chairman do I always have 
to have nonsense from the opposition?” 
 

5.20 Councillor Beavis submitted a further complaint to the Monitoring Officer on 
18 December 2019 regarding Councillor Butland’s conduct at that meeting. 
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6. Councillor Butland’s and the complainant’s additional submissions 
 
6.1 The following comments were received from Councillor Beavis on the draft 

version of this report:- 
 

“I will begin by thanking Braintree District Council (BDC) for instructing 
Wilkin Chapman to investigate my complaint and for Gill Thompson in 
completing her report. 
 
Her work has been constrained by having to balance the evidence from a 
Council perspective and ignore anything that related to internal 
Conservative Party behaviour. The report also ignored any reference to 
the Nolan Principles of Public Life which is surprising. 
 
The technique of taking repetitive testimonials on behalf of Cllr Butland 
(GB) and only the case file for myself has resulted in an unbalanced 
review. When I offered testimonials they were not accepted. There are 
currently outstanding complaints from two Councillors for GB’s behaviour 
at the December 2019 Council meeting. 
 
The bullying started in June 2016 when GB was not selected for the 
County Council seat that he wanted - his aggressive tone is admitted in 
the evidence. When I refused to accede to his demands I was stripped of 
my place in Cabinet and other associated positions. The excuse for this 
action in GB’s evidence was that “he could no longer work with me”, 
presumably for having the audacity for standing up to him. There are 
several comments in my case file that GB’s actions were not surprising, 
he has a reputation for such behaviour and that they were unreasonable 
by any normal standard.  
 
It is difficult to convey my feelings during the four years from 2016-20. I 
attended meetings connected to my dismissal, often the only woman, and 
was interrogated by men. Interrogation is a strong term but there is clear 
evidence that at times the tone was intimidating. Other meetings when 
my husband was present are not mentioned in the report. In four years 
GB destroyed my political life and reputation. If I had been able to submit 
testimonials one of them would have described the damage to my health 
and well-being. 
 
I will not list all the points made in my case file but there is evidence that 
GB tried to prevent me from being successful in national elections and 
that he interfered in my case with BDC over a grant application (which is 
the subject of a further complaint and investigation but not mentioned in 
the report). 
 
GB’s behaviour and comments at the December 2019 Council meeting 
summed up the previous four years. Witnesses at the meeting saw GB 
put the report by Freeths (into my application for a Council grant) on to 
his head and comment that he had been waiting for this moment. This is 
not the behaviour of a mature political leader. It comes from a male who 
has bullied a younger and junior female colleague because she had the 
audacity to say no. In most other circumstances the outcome would have 
been clear, sadly in this instance the conflation of council and party has 
confused the situation. 
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In the final instance, if the details of these four years become known it will 
be for the general public to pass judgement. 
 
Appendix 
 
My comments (as requested) on the last four years and the investigation 
summary are as stated above.  
 
However, going forward, I hope that an amicable working relationship can 
be reached between myself and Cllr Butland as we move on as fellow 
Members of two Councils.” 

 
Response to comments received from Councillor Beavis. 

 
6.2 The comments made by Councillor Beavis are noted. There are a number of 

observations we should make. 
 

6.3 Firstly, we note that Councillor Beavis now recognises that the Code of 
Conduct applies to the conduct of a councillor when carrying out the role of a 
councillor and that this does not apply to matters pertaining to political parties. 
Hence our investigation concentrating on those instances when it might have 
been considered Councillor Butland was acting in an official capacity. 
Similarly the investigation was only into matters pertaining to the Code of 
Conduct and not the conduct of the Council which Councillor Beavis also 
complained about. 
 

6.4 With regard to the individuals we interviewed, we carried out the investigation 
in accordance with our normal practice. That is, the complainant and the 
respondent councillor are invited at the beginning of the investigation to 
suggest individuals who may be able to provide evidence relevant to the 
investigation. Both individuals are also invited to submit any documentary 
evidence they consider relevant. In this case both individuals submitted 
documentary evidence, Councillor Butland also suggested we speak to a 
number of people who attended meetings which were referred to in councillor 
Beavis’ complaint. As these witnesses included individuals who Councillor 
Beavis had asked to accompany her to the meetings, we considered we 
would obtain a fair and balanced view of the meetings. 
 

6.5 We believe the other comments made by Councillor Beavis are dealt with in 
the report. There is nothing in these comments which have changed our 
conclusions in the report. 

 
6.6 The following comments were received from Councillor Butland on the draft 

version of this report:- 
 

“Thank you for your letter dated 19 June 2020 enclosing the Draft Report 
and Schedule of Evidence.  I have been able to read through both 
documents except for Page 45 of the Schedule of Evidence.  My 
reference to this page is because in the copy sent to me of this 
handwritten note is illegible.  If you can obtain a copy which is legible, I 
would request that a copy is sent to me. 
 
On the assumption that there is nothing of significant importance 
contained in the illegible document I am content with the report, which I 
consider to be both fair and correct. 
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Yours sincerely 
 
Graham Butland” 

 
Response to comments received from Councillor Butland 
 
6.7 Councillor Butland’s comments are noted. With regard to the illegible 

document supplied by Councillor Beavis and included in the appendices a 
legible copy has been obtained and provided to Councillor Butland. 
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7. Reasoning as to whether there have been failures  
 
7.1 The allegations referred for investigation relate to the conduct of Councillor 

Butland in respect of his dealing with a complaint submitted to him by Ms 
Burrows-Wren and allegations of bullying, intimidation and harassment over a 
four year period. A second complaint relates to conduct at a meeting of the 
Council held on 16 December 2019. 

 
Capacity 
 
7.2 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Authority to adopt a code 

of conduct "dealing with the conduct that is expected of members ... when 
they are acting in that capacity”. The Authority's code is expressed to apply 
whenever a member is acting in their capacity as a member of the Council. 
We therefore first have to consider whether Councillor Butland was acting in 
an official capacity at the time of the alleged incidents. 

 
7.3 Though relating to the former 2007 model code of conduct, the Upper 

Tribunal decision in MC v Standards Committee of the London Borough of 
Richmond [2011] UKUT 232 (AAC) is a helpful distillation of the previous High 
Court cases on capacity – Livingstone v Adjudication Panel for England 
[2006] EWHC 2533 and R(Mullaney) v Adjudication Panel for England [2009] 
EWHC 72. The principles stated in MC are:- 

 
(a) was the councillor, as a matter of ordinary English, actually conducting 

the business of their authority, including the business of the office of 
councillor? 

 
(b) a fact sensitive approach is required to the above; 
 
(c) the question is one for the tribunal to determine, not a reasonable 

observer. 
 

7.4 In this case the allegations relate to Councillor Butland’s actions in relation to 
the complaint he received by email from Ms Burrows-Wren. His conduct over 
a four-year period when Councillor Beavis was a member of the Braintree 
District Council’s Conservative Group. And his actions at a meeting of the 
Council held on 16 December 2019. 

 
7.5 In the first case it is evident that Councillor Butland was contacted by Ms 

Burrows-Wren in his capacity as Leader of the Council rather than Leader of 
the Conservative Group. His subsequent dealing with the email and contact 
with the Council’s officers would also have been in his capacity as an elected 
Councillor. We therefore consider that in these matters Councillor Butland 
was acting in an official capacity. 
 

7.6 In the second case, that is allegations of bullying, harassment and 
intimidation during four years whilst Councillor Beavis was a member of the 
Conservative Group it is less clear. We note that Councillor Butland contends 
that matters relating to the Conservative Group do not fall within the remit of 
the Code of Conduct. We agree with this; however, we consider there is a 
certain level of overlap that needs to be addressed. For instance, the power 
to appoint and dismiss councillors from the Cabinet is a function set out in the 
Council’s Constitution; this therefore is a function where Councillor Butland 
was actually conducting the business of the authority. On the other hand 

Page 151 of 298



CONFIDENTIAL REPORT 

V2 22.07.2020 
Page 40 of 48 

 

functions relating to the selection of candidates and internal Party discipline 
are clearly not functions of the authority. For the avoidance of doubt we have 
considered all of the allegations in the following paragraphs. 
 

7.7 The final case relates to actions at a meeting of the Council, it is clear that 
when attending the meeting on 16 December 2019 Councillor Butland was 
acting in an official capacity. 
 

Respect 
 

7.8 Paragraph 5 of the Council’s Code states: 
 

5.1 You must treat other with respect. 
 

7.9 Under the Code, a member will have failed to treat others with respect if they 
direct unwarranted, unreasonable or demeaning behaviour against another. 
The requirement to treat others with respect must be viewed objectively. 
Account should be taken of the member’s intent and how their behaviour 
would reasonably be perceived. 
 

7.10 Treating people with respect was covered in the former 2007 model code of 
conduct; of relevance is The Standards Board for England Case Review 2010 
(2011 edition) which provides guidance by indicating a ‘rule of thumb’ 
comparison. Q15 on page 26 of the Case Review advises that:- 
 

“A very clear line has to be drawn between the Code of Conduct’s 
requirement of respect for others, including members of the authority 
with opposing views, and the freedom to disagree with the views and 
opinions of others. In a democracy, members of public bodies should 
be able to express disagreement publicly with each other.  
 
A rule of thumb is expressed in this comparison: 

 
• “You’re talking drivel” is likely to be an acceptable expression of 

disagreement. 
 

• Calling someone an “incompetent moron”, on the other hand, is 
more likely to be a failure to comply with paragraph 3(1). 

 
We can see that the first comment is aimed at the expression of an 
idea or argument. The second is aimed at the person and their 
personal characteristics”.  

 
It is therefore the personalisation of comments that cause the user to breach 
the Code. 
 

7.11 In addition, decisions of the former Adjudication Panel for England have 
indicated that the threshold for failure to treat another with respect must be 
set at a level that allows for the passion and frustration that often 
accompanies political debate and the discussion of the efficient running of a 
council. It should also be set within the context of who was involved in the 
exchange and the extent to which the words were malicious, bullying, unfair, 
unreasonable or demeaning. 
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7.12 In this case there are a number of instances in which Councillor Beavis 
believes Councillor Butland has not treated her with respect. None of these 
appear to relate to any comments or words used which could be considered 
to be disrespectful. The allegations relate to Councillor Butland’s behaviour 
rather than his use of language. 
 

7.13 The examples provided by Councillor Beavis can be considered in two 
categories, those that relate to Councillor Butland’s conduct at what could be 
termed private meetings and the conduct at the Council meeting in December 
2019. 
 

7.14 Dealing with the private meetings, first it should be noted that there is some 
dispute as to whether these were meetings where Councillor Butland was 
acting in his capacity as a Councillor or whether they were Conservative Party 
meetings dealing with Party discipline. As referred to above we consider there 
is some overlap so for the purposes of this investigation we have considered 
Councillor Butland’s conduct in all cases. 
 

7.15 Councillor Beavis refers to Councillor Butland’s conduct at one of the 
meetings being described as ‘brutal’. The evidence provided by those who 
attended the meetings Councillor Beavis has referred to suggest differently. 
The meeting in June 2016 attended by Lady Newton and Councillor 
Tattersley (accompanying Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis 
respectively) both described Councillor Butland’s conduct. 
 

Councillor Tattersley stated:- ‘I thought the meeting was well 
conducted, Councillor Butland was very well prepared and quite 
amicable’ 
 
Lady Newton stated:- ‘He supported his statements with evidence 
contained in emails sent by Councillor Beavis to various individuals. 
He put these to Councillor Beavis and invited her to comment. 
Councillor Beavis was unable to deny the central issue which was that 
she had shared certain information with individuals outside of the 
Conservative Group and outside the Council. It was evident that 
Councillor Beavis found the meeting uncomfortable but she was given 
plenty of time to respond to the issues raised.’ 

 
7.16 Similarly Councillor Beavis refers to a meeting in June 2018 which was 

attended by Councillor McKee and Councillor Madden (accompanying 
Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis respectively) both made reference 
to Councillor Butland’s conduct. 
 

Councillor Madden stated: - ‘The meeting was properly conducted and 
it was clearly explained that they were dealing with the matter in 
respect of the Braintree Council Conservative Group. It was also 
explained that the actual complaint was being dealt with by the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer. The outcome of the meeting was that no 
further action would be taken. This was fully explained to Councillor 
Beavis.     The meeting was not confrontational, in fact I thought it was 
very constructive. There was definitely no intimidation or bullying. 
Clearly Councillor Beavis found the situation emotional but that was 
not due to the conduct of those at the meeting.     At the conclusion of 
the meeting Councillor Butland stated he did not intend to withdraw 
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the Conservative Whip or take any other action against Councillor 
Beavis until such time as he received the outcome of the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer’s findings.’ 
 
Councillor McKee stated: - The purpose of the meeting was to give 
Councillor Beavis the opportunity to respond to the allegations in the 
email from Ms Burrows-Wren.  
 
The possible outcome could have been the suspension of Councillor 
Beavis from the Conservative Group pending the outcome of the 
investigation into the allegations. For what I believe to be logical 
reasons Councillor Butland decided not to take any action. I believe 
Councillor Butland had regard to the history of complaints made by 
Councillor Beavis and that any action he took would result in her 
making a complaint of bullying by him.  
 
I do know that Councillor Butland was emotional during the meeting. 
Councillor Beavis continually challenged the issues raised in the email 
and denied the allegations made.  
 
Councillor Butland was clearly distressed by the matter and concerned 
about the possibility of allegations being made against him. At no point 
during the meeting was Councillor Butland confrontational.’ 
 

7.17 In each of these examples the evidence provided by the other parties 
attending the meetings, including the individuals invited by Councillor Beavis, 
does not support the allegations made. Furthermore, in both cases the 
purpose of the meeting appears to deal with Conservative Party matters albeit 
the meetings were conducted on Council premises. We are also mindful of 
the fact that following the meeting in 2016 Councillor Beavis was removed 
from the Council’s Cabinet by Councillor Butland. Whilst we have not 
investigated the full circumstances of that decision by Councillor Butland, it is 
a power that is vested in the Leader of the Council. The evidence provided 
indicates that the decision was taken in line with Councillor Butland’s powers 
as Leader and there is no provision that a Leader of the Council must justify 
such a decision. 
 

7.18 We have considered the other examples provided by Councillor Beavis 
including the contention that as Leader of her Group, Councillor Butland did 
not provide the support to her she believed he owed her. We also considered 
the telephone conversation between them after the Conservative Association 
selection process in 2016. We consider these are both outside the scope of 
the Code of Conduct and even if proven the conduct would not meet the 
threshold of not treating another Councillor with respect. 
 

7.19 The further complaint submitted in December 2019 refers to a meeting of the 
Council on 16 December. It is alleged that Councillor Butland held up a copy 
of the report into the investigation of the complaint against Councillor Beavis. 
Councillor Butland acknowledges that he held a copy of the report which 
Councillor Beavis would have been able to see. We have watched a 
recording of the meeting which does not show the incident referred to 
although the voice recording is clear. 
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7.20 The allegation is that this conduct by Councillor Butland was disrespectful and 
was an attempt to intimidate Councillor Beavis. Intimidation is considered in 
detail later in this report. With regard to disrespect we consider that merely 
holding a report produced for the Council without making any comment as to 
its purpose our outcome could not be considered disrespectful in the context 
of the Code of Conduct. 
 

7.21 In conclusion on treating another with respect we have concluded that 
Councillor Butland has not failed to treat Councillor Beavis with respect as 
required by the Code of Conduct. 
 

Bullying 
 

7.22 Paragraph 5 of the Council’s code states:- 
 

“5.3 You must not -  
 
5.3.2 Bully any person.” 

 
7.23 It is alleged that Councillor Butland has bullied Councillor Beavis over an 

extended period. 
 

7.19 Bullying was specifically identified as a conduct issue in the previous 2007 
model code of conduct and whilst not defined, bullying and intimidation is 
referred to in the Standards Board Guidance on the Code issued in May 
2007. It states on page 9 of the Guidance that:- 

 
“Bullying may be characterized as offensive, intimidating, malicious, 
insulting or humiliating behaviour. Such behaviour may happen once 
or be part of a pattern of behaviour directed at a weaker person or 
person over whom you have some actual or perceived influence. 
Bullying behaviour attempts to undermine an individual or a group of 
individuals, is detrimental to their confidence and capability, and may 
adversely affect their health.” 

 
This can be contrasted with legitimate challenges which a member can make 
in challenging policy or scrutinising performance. 

 
7.24 In evidence Councillor Beavis has combined bullying behaviour with 

intimidation which is also dealt with in the following paragraphs in this report. 
It should be noted however that in the Code of conduct intimidation is only 
referred to in the context of those involved in an investigation of an allegation 
that a member has failed to comply with the Code. 
 

7.25 Councillor Beavis clearly considers that Councillor Butland’s actions were 
bullying towards her. From the evidence provided it appears that if Councillor 
Butland was involved in anything that Councillor Beavis was questioned over 
this was bullying. Clearly as Leader of the Conservative Group Councillor 
Butland would be expected to have some involvement and input into the 
conduct of members of that Group. It is actions of this nature that appear to 
be the basis of Councillor Beavis’ allegations. 
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Intimidation 
 

7.33 Paragraph 5 of the Council’s Code states: 

5.3 You must not 

  5.3.3 Intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely 
to be:- 

 
   5.3.3.1 a complainant; 
 
   5.3.3.2 a witness; or 
 
  5.3.3.3 involved in the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings, in relation to an allegation that a Member (including 
yourself) has failed to comply with the Authority’s code of conduct; or 

 
7.34 Intimidation is defined in the Oxford English Dictionary as “frighten or 

overawe, especially so as to coerce into doing something”. We have 
considered whether Councillor Butland’s conduct towards Councillor Beavis 
or others involved in the investigation into the complaint made by Ms 
Burrows-Wren could be considered intimidatory. 
 

7.35 Having regard to the definition of intimidation we have concluded that the 
allegation relates to the meeting called by Councillor Butland in June 2018 to 
consider the implications of the complaint made by Ms Burrows-Wren. This 
appears to be the only specific allegation relating to the complaint. 
 

7.36 We have considered what, if anything, Councillor Butland may have been 
attempting to coerce Councillor Beavis in to doing or why he may have been 
attempting to frighten or overawe her. It is clear that Councillor Butland had 
the power to take action to have her suspended from the Conservative Group. 
Therefore, we can see no reason for Councillor Butland to frighten or 
intimidate Councillor Beavis to take any action in relation to the investigation. 
 

7.37 Similarly we have considered the allegation that Councillor Butland 
intimidated Councillor Beavis by leaking information about the complaint to 
the media. First, there is no evidence that the articles in the press referred to 
by Councillor Beavis were the result of information provided by Councillor 
Butland. Secondly, it is difficult to find any reason that Councillor Butland 
might take such action. 
 

7.38 Finally Councillor Beavis contends that at the meeting of the Council in 
December 2019 Councillor Butland attempted to intimidate her by holding up 
a copy of the investigation report. By this stage the investigation was 
complete and the matter had been concluded when Councillor Beavis 
resigned from the Council in 2018. Therefore there is no possibility of 
Councillor Butland’s actions being an attempt to intimidate any person who is 
involved in the investigation. 
 

7.39 Having considered how the complaint was dealt with by the Council and the 
conduct of Councillor Butland during the investigation into the complaint we 
have concluded that Councillor Butland did not intimidate or attempt to 
intimidate Councillor Beavis or any other individual involved in the 
investigation or proceedings. 

Page 157 of 298



CONFIDENTIAL REPORT 

V2 22.07.2020 
Page 46 of 48 

 

 
Compromise the impartiality of Officers 

 
7.40 Paragraph 5 of the Council’s Code states: 

5.3 You must not 

5.3.3.4 Do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Authority. 
 

7.38 The Standards Board for England in its Case Review volume 1 considered 
what sort of behaviour would ‘compromise the impartiality of those who work 
for the authority’. It states this paragraph is directed at; 

 
“any activity that seeks to put pressure on officers to carry out their 
duties in a way that is biased or partisan. This may include direct or 
indirect coercion to favour a particular person, group or organisation, 
whether commercial, political or voluntary, contrary to officers’ 
obligations to act independently and in the public interest.” 
 

7.39 In this case it appears that the allegation is that Councillor Butland put 
pressure on the Chief Executive and/or the Monitoring Officer regarding the 
complaint made by Ms Burrows-Wren. We have interviewed both officers who 
have confirmed that Councillor Butland had no influence on how the 
investigation was carried out or who was appointed as investigator. We note 
that at times Councillor Butland enquired about the progress of the 
investigation. We do not consider this to be inappropriate having regard to the 
fact that Councillor Beavis was a member of his Political Group and the 
potential implications of the outcome of the investigation. 

 
7.40 We have considered all the evidence relating to the conduct of the 

investigation and have found nothing which indicates that any pressure was 
placed on the officers involved in the conduct of the investigation. The officers 
acted independently of any political interference and entirely in accordance 
with the Council’s policies and procedures. 
 

Secure an advantage 
 

7.41 Paragraph 7 of the Council’s Code states: 
 

You must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member 
improperly to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an 
advantage or disadvantage. 
 

7.42 The relevant paragraph of the code states you must not use or attempt to use 
your position improperly to the advantage or disadvantage of yourself or 
anyone else. This provision is in essence the same as that in the Model Code 
of Conduct introduced under the Local Government Act 2000 and which the 
then Standards Board for England provided guidance on. 

 
7.43 The guidance issued by the Standards Board in 2007 provides very little 

clarification on this part of the code. It merely states “your behaviour would be 
improper if you sought to further your own private interest through your 
position as a member.” 
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7.44 Similarly the Case Review 2007 has scant reference to this area of the code. 
Question 46 on page 61 sets out where it will be proper for a member to seek 
an advantage. It also highlights the fact that the term “improperly” is not 
defined in the code thus ensuring that the scope of the provision is not 
unnecessarily limited. The most relevant section states:- 

 
“A member’s conduct would be improper if they were to use their 
public position to further private interests of themselves or associates, 
or to settle old scores with enemies, to the detriment of the public 
interest. Any conduct that unfairly uses a member’s public position to 
promote private interests over public interest will be improper.” 
 

7.45 In this case it appears that Councillor Beavis believes Councillor Butland has 
used his position as an elected member to disadvantage her. Councillor 
Beavis refers to her being removed from the Council’s Cabinet, removed from 
regional and national bodies and from other positions on the Council. Whilst it 
is a fact that Councillor Butland removed Councillor Beavis from the Council’s 
Cabinet and other positions this was entirely within his remit as Leader of the 
Council. From our investigation there is no evidence that any of these 
decisions were improper or were exercised to promote his own private 
interests over the public interest. 

 
Other matters considered 
 
7.46 We have considered all the documentation provided to us by Councillor 

Beavis, some of which is not entirely relevant to the complaint. None of these 
documents provide any evidence that is contrary to that which we have 
referred to in this report. 
 

7.47 In particular we have considered the allegation that Councillor Butland should 
have dealt with the original email from Ms Burrows-Wren differently. It is our 
opinion that the action taken by Councillor Butland to refer the matter to the 
Council’s appropriate officers was entirely correct. This was also the opinion 
of the solicitor appointed by the Council to investigate the complaint. 
 

7.48 We have also considered Councillor Beavis’ contention that Councillor 
Butland did not support and protect her during a period of four years as a 
member of his political group. It is not entirely clear what support and 
protection Councillor Beavis expected, in any case failure to provide support 
and protection is not a matter covered by the Code of Conduct. 
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Conclusion 
 
8.1 Our conclusion is that there has not been a failure to comply with the code of 

conduct of the authority concerned. 
 
 
  
Wilkin Chapman LLP Solicitors  
 
30 July 2020 
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Code of Conduct for Members 
 
General Provisions  

1. Introduction and interpretation  
1.1. As a member you are a representative of this authority and the public will view you 

as such therefore your actions impact on how the authority as a whole is viewed 
and your actions can have both positive and negative impacts on the authority.  

1.2. This Code as a whole is consistent with “Nolan Principles” which are set out in 
s29(1) Localism Act 2011 and are as follows: 
Selflessness  
To serve only the public interest and never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person.  
Integrity  
Not to place themselves in situations where their integrity may be questioned, 
should not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the appearance 
of such behaviour.  
Objectivity  
Make decisions on merit, including when making appointments, awarding 
Contracts or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits.  
Accountability  
To be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they 
carry out their responsibilities and should co-operate fully and honestly with any 
scrutiny appropriate to their Office.  
Openness  
To be as open as possible about their actions and those of the Council and should 
be prepared to give reasons for those actions.  
Honesty  
Not to place themselves in situations where their honesty may be questioned, 
should not behave improperly and should, on all occasions, avoid the appearance 
of such behaviour.  
Leadership  
Should promote and support these principles by leadership and by example and 
should always act in a way that secures or preserves public confidence.  

1.3. In this Code-   
1.3.1. “meeting” means any meeting of:  
1.3.1.1. the Authority  
1.3.1.2. the Executive of the Authority  
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1.3.1.3. any of the Authority’s or its Executive’s committees, sub-committees, joint 
committees or joint sub-committees whether or not the press and public are 
excluded from the meeting in question by virtue of a resolution of Members  

1.3.1.4. any briefings by officers and site visits organised by the Authority  
1.3.2. “relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which you 

give notification to the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary 
interests you had at the time of the notification.  

1.3.3. “profit or gain” includes any payments or benefits in kind which are subject to 
Income Tax.  

1.3.4. “beneficial interest” means having an economic benefit as a legal owner or holding 
it on trust for the beneficial owner, having a right to the income from the land or 
securities or a share in it or the right to the proceeds of sale or share of part of the 
proceeds of sale.   

1.3.5. “Member” includes a co-opted member.  

2. Who does the Code apply to? 
2.1. This Code applies to all Members of Braintree District Council including co-opted 

members.  
2.2. It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code.  

3. What does the Code apply to? 
3.1. You must comply with this Code whenever you -   
3.1.1. Conduct the business of the Authority, or  
3.1.2. You are acting as a representative of the Authority.  
3.2. This Code has effect in relation to your conduct in your official capacity.  

4. Where you act as a representative of the Authority –   
 
4.1. On another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, 

comply with that other authority's code of conduct; or  
4.2. On any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with the 

Authority's code of conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful 
obligations to which that other body may be subject.  

5. General obligations 
5.1. You must treat others with respect.  
5.2. You must uphold the law.  
5.3. You must not –   
5.3.1. Do anything which may cause the Authority to breach any of the equality 

enactments;  
5.3.2. Bully any person;  
5.3.3. Intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be:–   
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5.3.3.1. a complainant;  
5.3.3.2. a witness; or  
5.3.3.3. involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, in relation to an 

allegation that a Member (including yourself) has failed to comply with the 
Authority's code of conduct; or  

5.3.3.4. Do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those 
who work for, or on behalf of, the Authority.  

6. Confidential Information 
6.1. You must not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, 
is of a confidential nature, except where –   

6.1.1. You have the consent of a person authorised to give it;  
6.1.2. You are required by law to do so;  
6.1.3. The disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 

advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 
other person; or  

6.1.4. The disclosure is, reasonable and in the public interest; and made in good faith 
and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of the Authority;  

6.2. You must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which 
that person is entitled by law.  

7. Conferring an advantage or disadvantage 
7.1. You must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to 

confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or 
disadvantage;   

7.2. You must when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 
Authority, act in accordance with the Authority's reasonable requirements and 
ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes);   

7.3. You must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 
under the Local Government Act 1986.  

Members Interests  

8. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
8.1. You have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)1 in any business of the Authority 

if it is of a description set out in 8.2 below and is either:  
8.1.1. An interest of yours; or  
8.1.2. An interest (of which you are aware) of a spouse, civil partner or a person you are 

living with as a spouse or civil partner (known as “Relevant Persons”).   

1 The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 set out the pecuniary 
interests specified for the purposes of Chapter 7 of Part 1 Section 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011 and take 
precedence over this definition 
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8.2. A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is an interest which relates to or is likely to affect:  
8.2.1. Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on by you or a 

Relevant Person for profit or gain;  
8.2.2. Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 

Authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred in carrying out your duties as a Member, or towards your election 
expenses.  This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992;   

8.2.3. Any contract for goods, services or works which has not been fully discharged 
between you or a Relevant Person and the Authority or a body in which you or 
they have a beneficial interest;  

8.2.4. A beneficial interest in any land in the Authority’s area   
8.2.5. A licence of any land in the Authority’s area (alone or jointly with others) that you 

or a Relevant Person occupy for a month or longer  
8.2.6. Any tenancy where to your knowledge (i) the landlord is the Authority and (ii) the 

tenant is a body in which you or a Relevant Person has a beneficial interest  
8.2.7. Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) 

has a place of business or land in the area of the Authority and either:  
8.2.7.1. the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 

total issued share capital of that body; or  
8.2.7.2. the beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 

the share capital of that body, if of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class.  

9. Other Pecuniary Interests 
9.1. You have an Other Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority where it 

relates to or is likely to affect:  
9.1.1. Any person or body who employs or has appointed you;  
9.1.2. Any contract for goods, services or works made between the Authority and you or 

a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated 
director, or a person or body of the description specific in paragraph 8.2.7 which 
has been fully discharged within the last 12 months;  

10. Non-Pecuniary Interests 
10.1. You have a non-pecuniary interest in any business of the Authority where it 

relates to or is likely to affect -   
10.1.1. Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Authority;  
10.1.2. Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 

management  
10.1.2.1. Exercising functions of a public nature; or  
10.1.2.2. Directed to charitable purposes; or  
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10.1.2.3. One of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 
policy (including any political party or trade union);  

10.1.3. The interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with 
an estimated value of at least £50;  

10.1.4. A decision in relation to that business which might reasonably be regarded as 
affecting your wellbeing or the wellbeing or financial position of a friend, relative or 
close associate to a greater extent than the majority of:-  

10.1.4.1. (In the case of authorities with electoral divisions or wards) other council tax 
payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case 
may be, affected by the decision; or  

10.1.4.2. (In all other cases) other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
Authority’s area.  

11. Disclosure of Interests (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, OtherPecuniary 
Interests and Non-Pecuniary Interests) 

11.1. Subject to sub-paragraphs 11.2 to 11.3, where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest, other Pecuniary Interest or Non-Pecuniary Interest in any business of the 
Authority and you are present at a meeting of the Authority at which the business 
is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that 
interest whether or not such interest is registered on your Register of Interests or 
for which you have made a pending notification.  

11.2. Sub-paragraph 11.1 only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be 
aware of the existence of the Relevant Person’s Interest.  

11.3. Where you have an interest in any business of the Authority which would be 
disclosable by virtue of paragraph 11.1 but by virtue of paragraph 14 (Sensitive 
Information) details of the interest are not registered in the Authority’s published 
Register of Members’ Interests and the interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
or Other Pecuniary Interest you need not disclose the nature of the interest to the 
meeting.  

11.4. Where you have a Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority which would 
be Disclosable by virtue of paragraph 11.1 and a function of the Authority may be 
discharged by you acting alone in relation to that business, you must ensure you 
notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the existence and nature of that interest 
within 28 days of becoming aware that you will be dealing with the matter even if 
more than 28 days before you will actually deal with the business.  

11.5. Where you have an interest in any business of the Authority which would be 
disclosable by virtue of paragraph 11.1 and you have made an executive decision 
in relation to that business you must ensure that any written statement of that 
decision records the existence and nature of that interest.  In this paragraph 
“executive decision” is to be construed in accordance with any regulations made 
by the Secretary of State under section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000.  

12. Effect of Interests on participation 
12.1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
12.1.1. If you are present at a meeting of the Authority or of any committee, sub-

committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the Authority and you have a 
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Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered, or being 
considered, at the meeting and you are aware of that Interest:  

12.1.1.1. You must not participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the 
matter at the meeting, or participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the 
matter at the meeting unless you have received a dispensation from the 
Authority’s proper officer.  

12.1.1.2. You must withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting 
considering the business is being held.  

12.1.2. If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority you 
must not exercise executive functions in relation to that business; or seek 
improperly to influence a decision about that business  

12.1.3. If a function of the Authority may be discharged by a Member acting alone and 
you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be dealt with or being 
dealt with in the course of discharging that function you may not take any steps or 
any further steps in relation to the matter (except for the purpose of enable the 
matter to be dealt with otherwise than by yourself).  

12.2. Other Pecuniary Interests  
12.2.1. If you have an other Pecuniary Interest in any business of the Authority which a 

member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement in the public 
interest and you are present at a meeting of the Authority at which such business 
is to be considered or is being considered you must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest in accordance with paragraph 11.1 (but subject to paragraph 
11.3) and; Withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting considering the 
business is being held unless you have obtained a dispensation from the 
Authority’s proper officer.  

12.3. Non-Pecuniary Interests  
12.3.1. After having declared an interest in accordance with paragraph 11.1 you may then 

participate and vote unless: a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant 
facts would reasonably regard your interest as so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice your judgement; or your interest may give rise to a perception of conflict 
of interest or bias, in which case you must withdraw.  

Register of Members Interests  

13. Registration of Members’ Interests 
13.1. Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of this Code being adopted by 

or applied to the Authority; or your election, re-election or appointment or re-
appointment to office (where that is later), or co-opted onto the Authority register 
in the Authority’s Register of Members’ Interests (maintained by the Monitoring 
Officer under Section 29(1) of the Localism Act 2011) details of:  

13.1.1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as referred to in paragraph 8 that you or a 
Relevant Person has in so far as you are aware of their interests at that time;  

13.1.2. Other Pecuniary Interests referred to in paragraph 9 that you have;  
13.1.3. Non-pecuniary interests referred to in paragraph 10 that you have.  

C9 
Revision Date: 8 May 2015 

CONFIDENTIAL REPORT

Page 9 of 137
Page 169 of 298



13.2. You must keep your register of interests up to date by notifying the Monitoring 
Officer of any changes to your interests referred to in 13.1 above within 28 days of 
the change occurring or becoming aware of the change.  

14. Sensitive Information 
14.1. Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest referred to in paragraph 8 or 

Other Pecuniary Interest referred to in paragraph 9 and the nature of the interest 
is such that you and the Authority’s Monitoring Officer consider that disclosure of 
details of the interest could lead to you or a person connected with you being 
subject to violence or intimidation if the interest is entered in the Authority’s 
Register then copies of the register available for inspection and any published 
version of the Register should not include details of the interest but may state that 
you have an interest details of which are withheld under s32(2) of the Localism 
Act 2011 and/or this paragraph.  

14.2. You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances 
which means that information excluded under paragraph 14.1 is no longer 
sensitive information, notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer.  

14.3. In this Code “sensitive information” means information whose availability for 
inspection by the public creates, or is likely to create, a serious risk that you or a 
person who lives with you may be subject to violence or intimidation.  

15. Register of Gifts and Hospitality 
15.1. You must within 28 days of receipt, notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer in 

writing of any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 which you 
have accepted as a Member from any person or body other than the Authority.  

15.2. The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts and 
hospitality.  

15.3. This duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit or 
hospitality comes within any description approved by the Authority for this 
purpose.  
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Cllr Beavis  Thank you Madam Chairman, I was just quickly going through my journal to 
see if I could find the point I wanted to make but actually Councillor Butland 
it was on your piece here where you say Councillor John Lodge, Leader of 
Uttlesford District Council, came to visit and I just wonder whether, I mean, 
its quite a broad statement, I just wondered whether you could give us a bit 
more detail on that visit?  The reason I ask is this, I attended, along with 
other members of this Council actually, a presentation at Uttlesford District 
Council on West of Braintree and the thing that I’ll take back with me is that 
they were quite honest within the workshops that we had on that day that 
they have an allocations policy that’s not fit for purpose and certainly not fit 
for purpose with the growth that could potentially come in that area so that’s 
something else I’d be particularly keen to understand a bit more about and 
secondly, the thing I was looking for in my journal was I raised a question at 
last full council I believe and we did have a debate around the pavements in 
Braintree town centre. Now, we’ve now got lots of black tarmac squares all 
over the town, not particularly fetching I have to say, but they do the job.  Not 
everything has been resolved, in fact, when I was at one of the local fairs at 
Christmas, erm, a lady walked towards me and fell in my arms and clearly 
she’d slipped walking through the high street so clearly we do still have some 
issues there and I believe that in the newspaper the Council are going to 
give us an update at this meeting.  If not could I please have a written 
response.  Thank you Madam Chairman. 

 
Cllr Butland Thankyou Madam Chairman.  Yes we’ve had very, very good discussions 

with the Leader of Uttlesford District Council regarding our joint visions of 
how we see housing and growth going particularly around our border areas.  
I think that’s something all members would expect us to do and we will 
continue with those discussions.  As regards the town centre there will be 
announcements coming forward on that.  I’m grateful to the local members 
who represent that area who have constantly, on behalf of their constituents, 
made a strong case for the improvement of the town centre and those are 
councillors who really know it because they live in the area and are in the 
area and know what is going on.  So, but there will be an announcement 
around that and Councillor Cunningham may well wish to make a comment 
when people ask him questions. 

 
Other comments but camera not on that speaker but sounds like Cllr Beavis attempting to ask 
another question 
 
Cllr Butland Madam Chairman do I always  have to have nonsense from the opposition? 
 
Cllr Beavis Madam Chairman through you, the Leader might find my question 

nonsense.  I’m sure many people in this district do not.  The question I 
wanted to raise is this.  I, I, I’ve erm, I think we’re going to be dealing with 
that Councillor Butland in a few weeks time.  

 
Cllr Butland  I hope so. 
 
Cllr Beavis  I hope so too.  In fact I believe I’ve got a telephone call scheduled for 

Wednesday to look at these issue. 
 
Cllr Butland  ? months I’ve been waiting 
 
Cllr Beavis  well I’ve been waiting three years and I think you’re well aware of that.  
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Some others talk here 
 
Cllr Beavis  Thank you Madam Chairman, the point I wanted to raise is I was born and 

bred in this district and I was not aware …… 
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COUNCILLOR CODE OF CONDUCT 
COMPLAINT FORM 

 
When completed please return to: 
The Monitoring Officer, Braintree District Council, Causeway House, Braintree, Essex, 
CM7 9HB 
 
Your details 
 
1. Please provide us with your name and contact details 
 
Title: Mrs 
First name: Joanne 
Last name: Beavis 
Address: [redacted] 

 
 

Daytime telephone: [redacted] 

Evening telephone: [redacted] 

Mobile telephone: [redacted] 

Email address: [redacted] 
 
Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or to 
deal with your complaint.  
 
However, we will tell the following people that you have made this complaint: 
 

• the Councillor(s) you are complaining about 
• the Monitoring Officer of the authority 
• the Parish or Town Clerk (if applicable) 

 
We will tell them your name and give them a summary of your complaint. We will give 
them full details of your complaint where necessary or appropriate to be able to deal 
with it. If you have serious concerns about your name and a summary, or details of 
your complaint being released, please complete section 5 of this form.  
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2 

 
2. Please tell us which complainant type best describes you: 

 
  Member of the public 
  X       An elected or co-opted Councillor of an authority 

  Member of Parliament 
  Local authority monitoring officer 
  Other council officer or authority employee  
  Other – please state (     ) 

 
3. Equality monitoring questions  [responses redacted] 

a)      Gender: 
  Male 

   Female 
  Prefer not to state 

 
b) I would describe my ethnic group as:  

 
           White 
  Mixed 

  Asian or Asian British 

  Black or Black British 

  Middle East  

  Traveller 
  Other Ethnic Group (     ) 
  Prefer not to state 

 

4. Making your complaint 
 
Please provide us with the name of the Councillor(s) you believe have breached the 
Code of Conduct and the name of their authority: 

 
Title First name Last name Council or authority name 
Mr Graham Butland Braintree 
                        
                        
                        
 

Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the Councillor has done 
that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct. If you are complaining about more 

CONFIDENTIAL REPORT

Page 14 of 137
Page 174 of 298



Code of Conduct Complaint Form 
V3 – October 2013 

3 

than one Councillor you should clearly explain what each individual person has done 
that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct. 

 
It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into account 
by the Monitoring Officer or the Sub-Committee when it decides whether to take any 
action on your complaint. For example: 
 

• You should be specific, wherever possible; about exactly what you are alleging 
the Councillor said or did. For instance, instead of writing that the Councillor 
insulted you, you should state what it was they said. 

• You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever possible. If you 
cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a general timeframe.  

• You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged conduct and 
provide their names and contact details if possible. 

• You should provide any relevant background information.  
 
 

Please provide us with the details of your complaint. Continue on a separate sheet 
if there is not enough space on this form. 
 
There are 4 key areas to my complaint: 
 
1).  My written complaint to Braintree District Council regarding the handling of my 
Councillor Grant application and the influence that the Leader of Braintree District 
Council had on the complaint process when the complaint was submitted which, 
from the outset, broke the Rules of Natural Justice.  My solicitor, who advised me 
when Braintree District Council took up the complaint, stated on several occasion 
that the process should be devoid of political influence.  This proved, not, to be the 
case.  To understand the process and protocol of how and whom leaked the 
complaint to BBC Essex as a BBC Essex Exclusive story? 
 
2).  My written complaint to Braintree District Council regarding the bullying and 
intimidating behaviour from the Leader of Braintree District Council towards me 
during the handling of the complaint about my Councillor Grant application which 
was both bullying and harassment.  The behaviour demonstrated by Graham 
Butland broke the Council Code of Conduct for Leadership and broke the Nolan 
Principles.  I was not supported by Graham Butland at any point during the 
complaint.  I was victimised and set up to become the victim which was revenge 
and resentment by Graham Butland. My solicitor was concerned that throughout 
the process of the complaint that Graham Butland was influencing the process.   
 
3).  My written complaint to Braintree District Council following a three-year case of 
bullying, intimidation, victimisation towards me from the Leader of Braintree District 
Council which has been referred by me on the instruction of the Conservative Party 
(of which I was a member for 18 years).  Much of the case relates to the Rules of 
Natural Justice and the influence (using his power as senior male colleague over 
junior female colleague) that the Leader of Braintree District Council has used to 
bully, intimidate, harass and victimise me.  
The Conservative Party has advised me, in writing, that my three-year complaint 
regarding the behaviour of Graham Butland towards me should be taken up at 
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Braintree District Council under the Code of Conduct for Members at Braintree 
District Council and have therefore recommended that I refer my complaint to 
Braintree District Council.  The complaint includes stalking type behaviours by 
Graham Butland towards me, taking great opportunity to create public revenge 
type behaviours towards me.  
 
4).  My written complaint to Braintree District Council regarding a case of bullying, 
intimidation, and victimisation to harass me by the Leader of Braintree District 
Council which was reported to Essex Police, in writing, in February 2019.  In 
reviewing my complaint Essex Police has advised: “In reviewing your letter relating 
to harassment, I am also of the opinion that this is not a Police matter and would 
fall more satisfactorily within the Code of Conduct or Nolan Principles”.    
      

 
5. Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is 

kept confidential 
 

In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe Councillors who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We also believe 
they have a right to be provided with a summary of the complaint. We are unlikely to 
withhold your identity or the details of your complaint unless you have good reason to 
believe that: 
 
To allow us to give full consideration to a request for confidentiality we require you to 
provide us with an explanation of the reason why you think your details should be kept 
confidential. Any request for confidentiality must be sent to the Monitoring Officer with 
the complaint form. 
 
Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of complaint 
details will not automatically be granted. The Monitoring Officer will consider the 
request alongside the substance of your complaint. We will then contact you with the 
decision. If your request for confidentiality is not granted, we will usually allow you the 
option of withdrawing your complaint.  
 
However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional circumstances where 
the matter complained about is very serious, we can proceed with an investigation or 
other action and disclose your name even if you have expressly asked us not to.  
 
If your complaint is dealt with by the Standards Sub-Committee at a hearing after an 
investigation you may be asked to attend as a witness.  
 

Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold your 
name and/or the details of your complaint: 
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6. Additional Help 
 
Complaints must be submitted in writing. This includes fax and electronic submissions. 
However, in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010, we can make 
reasonable adjustments to assist you if you have a disability that prevents you from 
making your complaint in writing.  
 
We can also help if English is not your first language.  
 
If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as 
possible. 
 
If you need any support in completing this form, please contact Ian Hunt, Monitoring 
Officer or Emma Wisbey, Deputy Monitoring Officer on 01376 552525 or by email at 
ian.hunt@braintree.gov.uk or emma.wisbey@braintree.gov.uk 
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 Name: Councillor Dick Madden 
 
 Position Held Witness 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Cartergate House, 
26 Chantry Lane, 

Grimsby 
DN31 2LJ 

 
a limited liability partnership  registered in England number OC343261  

authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority 
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STATEMENT of: Councillor Dick Madden 
 
 
1. I am an elected member of Essex County Council having been first elected in June 

2011. In May 2013 I was appointed to the County Council’s Cabinet with 

responsibility for Children and Families, in May 2019 I took over as the Cabinet 

Member for Performance, Business Planning and Partnerships. Prior to retirement I 

was an officer in Essex Police achieving the rank of Chief Superintendent. 

 

2. I understand that Wilkin Chapman Solicitors have been engaged by the District 

Council’s Monitoring Officer to investigate a complaint regarding Councillor Butland’s 

conduct which includes allegations of bullying. This relates to a complaint made by 

Councillor Beavis who at the time was both a District and County Councillor. 

 

3. I have known Councillor Butland since I was elected to the County Council in 2011 as 

he is also a County Councillor. 

 

4. I requested to see Councillor Beavis in June 2018 in my capacity as Chief Whip for 

the Conservative Group on the County Council, the Whip having responsibility for 

party discipline, conduct etc. The complaint against her had come to our attention 

and we wanted to discuss the matter with her from the County Council’s perspective. 

At this meeting Councillor Beavis asked if I would accompany her to a meeting at the 

District Council, that was 15 June 2018. 

 

5. I explained to Councillor Beavis how the meeting should go and that she should 

restrict her comments to making a statement. We attended the meeting which had 

been called by Councillor Butland as Leader of the Conservative Group on the 

District Council; he was also Leader of the Council. Also in attendance was District 

Councillor John McKee supporting Councillor Butland. 

 

6. Once the meeting commenced Councillor Beavis continued to stray from her 

statement. I asked permission hat the meeting be adjourned whilst I had the 

opportunity to speak to Councillor Beavis outside the meeting room.  I took her out  
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and told her that she should focus on the short statement. When we returned to the 

meeting she did generally keep to the agreed statement. 

 
7. The meeting was properly conducted and it was clearly explained that they were 

dealing with the matter in respect of the Braintree Council Conservative Group. It was 

also explained that the actual complaint was being dealt with by the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. The outcome of the meeting was that no further action would be 

taken. This was fully explained to Councillor Beavis. 

 
8. In my opinion Councillor Beavis needed to take the advice that was being offered to 

her. 

 
9. The meeting was not confrontational, in fact I thought it was very constructive. There 

was definitely no intimidation or bullying. Clearly Councillor Beavis found the situation 

emotional but that was not due to the conduct of those at the meeting. 

 
10. At the conclusion of the meeting Councillor Butland stated he did not intend to 

withdraw the Conservative Whip or take any other action against Councillor Beavis 

until such time as he received the outcome of the Council’s Monitoring Officer’s 

findings. 

 
11. After the meeting I did prepare a report for the Leader of the County Council. 

 
 

 

 
 
I Councillor Dick Madden declare that this statement is true 
and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
 
 
Signed ..... ........Date ......07.04.2020....... 
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STATEMENT of: Ian Hunt 
 
 
1. I am a qualified Solicitor and have worked in Local Government since 2002. From 

2013 to February 2020 I was employed by Braintree District Council and held the 

statutory position of Monitoring Officer. I am now employed by Thurrock Council as 

Assistant Director of Law and Governance and also hold the statutory position of 

Monitoring Officer for the Council. 

 

2. I understand that Wilkin Chapman Solicitors have been engaged by Braintree District 

Council’s Monitoring Officer to investigate a complaint regarding Councillor Butland’s 

conduct. The complaint includes an allegation the Councillor Butland influenced the 

investigation into a complaint about Councillor Beavis. 

 

3. In April 2018 I received an email from the Council’s Chief Executive which had been 

forwarded to him by Councillor Butland. The original email was from Caroline 

Burrows-Wren and was dated 14 April 2018, this was a Saturday. I received the 

email and responded to Ms Burrows-Wren on the Monday. 

 
4. The email contained information about a grant application to the Council submitted 

on behalf of Braintree District Community Foundation CIC. Ms Burrows-Wren raised 

concerns regarding the use of her name on the application when she had resigned 

as a Director of the Foundation in November 2018. Councillor Beavis was the only 

remaining Director of the Foundation when the grant application was submitted. 

 
5. After considering the content of the email I first contacted Ms Burrows-Wren to clarify 

some of the details. My initial decision was to treat the allegations set out as a 

corporate matter rather than a standards complaint. This was because it related to 

the award of a grant by the Council. 

 

6. I had further discussions with Ms Burrows-Wren before discussing the matter with 

Councillor Beavis. The purpose of my discussion with Councillor Beavis was to 

establish whether she accepted the information set out in the email; that was that Ms 

Burrows-Wren had resigned as a Director of the Foundation and should not have 

been included on the application for the grant. Councillor Beavis’ reaction was that it 
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was all Ms Burrows-Wren’s fault as she had not properly resigned as a Director or 

told Councillor Beavis. 

 

7. I then discussed this with the Chief Executive and decided that the matter should be 

considered as a standards complaint, to enable a formal consideration of the facts 

and potential code issues, and Councillor Beavis had completed the form in both her 

capacity of Director of the CIC and Councillor. Councillor Butland was aware of that 

decision but had no part in the consideration of the matter. 

 
8. Due to the nature of the complaint, knowledge of the history between Councillor 

Butland and Councillor Beavis, and the lack of capacity within the Council to carry out 

an investigation, it was decided to appoint an external, independent investigator. 

Freeths Solicitors were selected following a competitive tendering process. The 

investigation was carried out by Stephen Pearson a Partner at Freeths. 

 
9. Again, Councillor Butland was aware of the decision to appoint an external 

investigator but had no part in the selection or appointment of Freeths. 

 
10. Throughout the period of the investigation Councillor Butland did regularly enquire of 

me or the Chief Executive on progress. He was not seeking any particular outcome 

but was concerned that the matter should be resolved. His concern was that as 

Group Leader the matter should be resolved for the benefit of Councillor Beavis who 

was a member of his Group. 

 
11. Councillor Butland’s concern was that the matter should be investigated properly and 

resolved expeditiously so there was certainty for all concerned. Councillor Butland 

was also mindful that whatever the outcome the Council should be able to withstand 

scrutiny after the event. Councillor Butland wanted a certain outcome not a half-

hearted look at the complaint, on occasions he explicitly stated he was not setting an 

expectation as to the result. 

 
12. Later on during the investigation Councillor Butland did become irked at what he 

thought was Councillor Beavis’ attempts to delay the investigation. Despite this there 

was no instruction from Councillor Butland to take any form of action. 

 
13. Whilst not directly relevant to the investigation undertaken by Freeths, I am aware, 

Councillor Butland was concerned about the financial details relating to the 

Foundation. He was particularly concerned about some of the bank transactions 

detailed on bank statements provided to him by Ms Burrows-Wren. However, he 
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considered this was not a matter for the Council. That said, Councillor Butland was 

concerned that it should not be brushed under the carpet as there were wider issues 

involved, but this was not a matter for the Council and therefore he did not provide 

the details to me or the Council. 

 
14. Ms Burrows-Wren referred both the complaint about the grant application and the 

wider financial matters to Fraud Action. My advice to the Chief Executive and 

Councillor Butland was that there was no clear evidence of fraudulent activity, but if 

there was, of the evidence I had, I did not think it met the CPS test for prosecution. 

However, in view of the circumstances, I did prepare a report expressing my opinion 

that there was no evidence of fraud, this was submitted to Action Fraud principally to 

ensure that they had relevant contact details given the Councils involvement. 

 
15. With regard to the meeting of the Council held on 16 December 2019, I was present. 

The incident referred to by Councillor Beavis occurred during the item on Questions 

to the Leader. Councillor Beavis asked a question to which the Leader responded. 

Councillor Beavis then started to ask a supplementary question during which she 

appeared to splutter and stop. At the time I was making notes so did not see what 

caused this or the action of Councillor Butland. I understand from a colleague who 

was also present that Councillor Butland did hold up a document which had the same 

front cover as the investigation report produced by Freeths. There was a short 

sequence of comments following this between both Councillors which I interpreted as 

being a reference to the complaints process, given the background I was aware of. 

 
16. If, as it appears, Councillor Butland held up this document it had no reference to the 

meeting or the question being raised by Councillor Beavis, I consider that it was 

certainly unnecessary and ungentlemanly conduct. 

 
 

 

 
I Ian Hunt declare that this statement is true and accurate to 
the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 

Signed .. .Date ....17/6/20. 
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 Name: Councillor Graham Butland 

 

 Position Held Respondent Councillor 
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Notes of an interview with Councillor Graham Butland 
conducted by Alan Tasker. 

 

1. Councillor Butland confirmed that he understood that Wilkin Chapman Solicitors had 

been engaged to investigate the complaint made by Councillor Beavis regarding his 

alleged conduct towards her. He understood that a note of the telephone interview 

would be produced and that the notes would form part of the investigation report. 

 

2. Councillor Butland was first elected to Braintree District Council in May 2003. He 

became Leader of the Council in 2004, a position he has held since then. 

 

3. Councillor Butland explained that his involvement with the complaint against Councillor 

Beavis was limited. It commenced when he received an email from Caroline Burrows-

Wren on 14 April 2018. The email contained information about a grant application 

submitted to the Council by Councillor Beavis. Ms Burrows-Wren became aware of the 

grant application when she received communication from the Council indicating that the 

application had been successful. She was surprised to receive the communication as in 

November 2017 she had resigned from the position of Director of the organisation to 

which the grant had been awarded. Ms Burrows-Wren was worried about her name 

being used on the grant application. At this stage he did not know Ms Burrows-Wren, he 

had never communicated with her. 

 

4. He sent a response to Ms Burrows-Wren acknowledging receipt of the email. The same 

day he emailed Councillor Schmitt, the Deputy Leader of the Council (and Conservative 

Group) and Councillor Tattersley, the Group Whip with details of the email from Ms 

Burrows-Wren. He transferred the email from his Council email account to his private 

account. At this stage he said he was inclined to refer the matter to the Council’s Chief 

Executive, which was agreed by Councillors Schmitt and Tattersley. 

 

5. He forwarded the email to the Chief Executive on 14 April 2018, the same day as he 

received it from Ms Burrows-Wren. 
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6. He acknowledged that he had occasional conversations with the Chief Executive about 

the matter whilst the complaint was being investigated as he was concerned about how 

long it was taking. 

 

7. In the meantime Ms Burrows-Wren received what she considered to be threatening 

emails and telephone calls from Councillor Beavis. Ms Burrows-Wren also received 

three telephone calls from Councillor Howard Rolfe (Leader of Uttlesford District 

Council) who also tried to contact her by text message. 

 

8. Ms Burrows-Wren was accused by Councillor Beavis of disclosing information to the 

press about the matter. Ms Burrows-Wren received written confirmation from the press 

that it was not her who had provided the information. Councillor Butland did not contact 

the press although with hindsight he thought he should have done to also have it 

confirmed that it was not him who had disclosed any information to them. 

 

9. During the process of the investigation he received permission from Ms Burrows-Wren 

that he could share the information contained in the original email. He considered he 

had to share the information with the Leader of Essex County Council as Councillor 

Beavis was a County Councillor and a member of the County Council Conservative 

Group. 

 

10. In August 2018 he received an email from Ms Burrows-Wren indicating that she was 

considering referring the matter to the Police. He suggested to her that she should await 

the outcome of the Council’s investigation before taking any further action. 

 

11. In around November or December 2018 the Council’s investigation was eventually 

concluded and a report was produced by Stephen Pearson. Councillor Butland did not 

know who Stephen Pearson was, he had never met him. Ms Burrows-Wren rang him 

whilst he was driving to inform him that she had a copy of the report, he had not seen 

the report. Ms Burrows-Wren asked him if he wanted to know what it said. He asked her 

if the report had any embargo or any indication she should not share the content, she 

stated that it did not. As he was driving he said to just tell him the outcome. Ms Burrows-

Wren read paragraphs 8.1 and 8.2 of the report to him. He was surprised at how blunt 

the conclusion was. 

 

12. He did not receive a copy of the report at any stage during the investigation. It was 

several weeks after the telephone call from Ms Burrows-Wren that he asked officers at 
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the Council if he was entitled to see a copy of the report. The report was eventually 

issued and would have been reported to the Standards Committee but Councillor 

Beavis resigned from the Council which stopped the process as there was nothing the 

Council could do once she ceased to be a Councillor. 

 

13. Other than that he had no involvement with or input into how the complaint submitted by 

Ms Burrows-Wren had been handled by the Council or indeed the subsequent 

investigation. He had not met Councillor Beavis in a one to one situation for years as he 

was not prepared to put himself in a position which could give her the opportunity to 

make unfounded allegations against him without other witnesses. 

 

14. When asked about Councillor Beavis’ allegation that he had denied all knowledge of the 

complaint Councillor Butland explained that this related to a message he received from 

Councillor Beavis whilst he was in Norfolk with his grandchildren. The message was 

about something in the press relating to the complaint. His denial was that as he was 

away he had not seen what was in the press which Councillor Beavis was referring to. 

He has provided copies of the emails. 

 

15. With regard to the allegation of bullying during a period of three years as a Member of 

the Conservative Party Councillor Butland believed this was a Party matter not a 

Council matter and therefore not subject to the Council’s Code of Conduct. 

Nevertheless, he thought this was a reference to the start of a breakdown of the 

relationship between him and Councillor Beavis who was a Member of his Cabinet. 

 

16. In 2016 the Conservative Party was selecting prospective candidates for the County 

Council elections to be held in May 2017. Both he and Councillor Beavis were 

interviewed by Party officials from the local association. The outcome was that 

Councillor Beavis was selected to stand in the seat that he wished to stand in. After the 

selection he telephoned Councillor Beavis to discuss swapping seats.  Councillor 

Butland described that call as robust on both sides but emphasised it was not him who 

used foul and abusive language. 

 

17. After this he was aware that Councillor Beavis was talking to people about him and 

making unfounded allegations. This resulted in him engaging a solicitor to try to resolve 

the conflict. Councillor Beavis denied any inappropriate behaviour or that she had 

spoken to anybody. He had copies of emails and texts she had sent, as well as third 
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party statements, which showed that she had been making unfounded allegations about 

him. 

 

18. In response to this, in June 2016 he invited Councillor Beavis to a meeting to discuss 

her behaviour. The meeting was attended by him accompanied by Councillor Lady 

Newton and Councillor Beavis accompanied by Councillor Tattersley. At the meeting 

Councillor Beavis denied making allegations about him, confirming her written denial in 

a previous email to Councillor Butland. When he produced copies of emails and screen 

shots of texts she had sent she went quiet. At the meeting Councillor Butland stated that 

there was clearly a lack of trust between the pair of them and as a result he would be 

removing her from the Braintree District Council Cabinet. 

 

19. The difficulties continued until November 2016 when the local Conservative Party dealt 

with the matter. Councillor Butland and Councillor Beavis were invited to a meeting at 

the home of the Conservative Party Chairman, Nigel McCrea, to try to resolve the 

differences between them. The outcome of that meeting was that both he and 

Councillor Beavis signed an agreement in which they both agreed that they were 

satisfied with the outcome of the meeting. As they left Councillor Beavis put her arms 

around him.  Councillor Butland has provided a copy of the agreement signed by both 

parties. 

 

20. In October 2017 Councillor Beavis was involved in a challenge to his leadership of the 

Conservative Group. Councillor Butland did not want a period of infighting to continue 

for 6-7 months so decided to resign as Leader to facilitate an election. He indicated he 

was prepared to stand again if anyone wished to nominate him. He was nominated and 

re-elected as Leader of the Group by 34 votes to 9.  Following complaints from other 

members about the actions of Councillor Beavis and two other Conservative 

Councillors, it was agreed that, under the Conservative Group rules, a disciplinary 

investigation would be held.  The rules empower the Group Leader to carry out any 

such investigation.  Councillor Butland decided that given the situation between 

Councillor Beavis and himself he would not participate in the investigation and 

appointed the Deputy Leader to carry it out. 

 

21. In 2018, when it was confirmed that the complaint by Ms Burrows-Wren against 

Councillor Beavis would be investigated he felt as Group Leader he needed to consider 

whether any action should be taken. He wrote to Councillor Beavis as the Group Leader 

suggesting a meeting to hear her comments on the matter. Councillor Beavis responded 
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saying the dates he had provided were not suitable but that she was available on 15 

June 2018. He re-arranged his diary for that date to facilitate the meeting. At the 

meeting he was accompanied by Councillor John McKee. Councillor Beavis was 

accompanied by Councillor Dick Madden (Conservative Chief Whip at Essex County 

Council). The purpose of the meeting was to consider what effect the allegations made 

by Ms Burrows-Wren might have on Councillor Beavis’ position in the Group, it was not 

to investigate the allegations. 

 
22. One item which had no relevance to the Council related to bank statements of one of 

the Community Interest Companies that Councillor Beavis was a Director of. These 

statements identified payments which did not appear to relate to the business of the 

organisation. Councillor Butland stated that he did not feel that this was a matter for 

investigation by Braintree District Council. His concern at this stage was that the 

conduct of Councillor Beavis should not bring the Conservative Group into disrepute 

and whether she should be suspended from the Group pending the outcome of the 

Council’s investigation. He decided that he would not suspend Councillor Beavis 

pending the outcome of any enquiry. He advised her not to draw people in to the issue 

and not to contact Ms Burrows-Wren. He was aware that Councillor Rolfe had been 

contacting Ms Burrows-Wren on her behalf. 

 

23. In a private discussion immediately after the meeting Councillor Madden asked him why 

he was not reporting Councillor Beavis to the Police. He told Councillor Madden that 

Councillor Beavis had been making complaints against him since 2016 and was mindful 

that if he did so it would probably lead to further complaints. 

 

24. After the meeting he wrote to Councillor Beavis informing her that no action regarding 

the alleged fraudulent Grant application would be taken pending the outcome of the 

Council’s investigation. 

 

25. There had been a number of occasions during this period where he had reasonable 

justification to take action over the conduct of Councillor Beavis but he had resisted.  

 

26. In February 2019, out of the blue, he received a letter from Councillor Beavis stating 

that she was resigning from the Council to devote more time to the community shop. 

This put an end to the consideration of the report. On 26 February 2019 Mrs Beavis 

submitted a complaint about him. 
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27. In the meantime (possibly 13 February 2019) Councillor Madden referred the grant 

application and the payments from the bank to Essex Police. On 28 February he 

received a letter from Essex Police. He was not aware why he had received the letter 

other than it said the Police would not be investigating the matter and that it should be 

dealt by the Council. He responded to the Police setting out his concern that the Council 

was not in a position to do anything as Mrs Beavis was no longer a Councillor. The 

Police response was that Mrs Beavis was still an Essex County Councillor and the grant 

money had been used as intended. 

 

28. He did speak to the Council’s Chief Executive about the outcome as he was not happy 

as the complainant had not received a satisfactory answer to her complaint. 

 

29. There was a report in the Halstead Gazette, in March 2019, under a heading ‘Police 

confirm no criminal probe into councillor’. In the article a number of quotes were 

attributed to Mrs Beavis or Councillor Beavis (still being a County Councillor). These 

included the following statement “Mrs Beavis has since made a complaint to the 

Conservative Party, Essex Police and Braintree District Council against a serving 

Braintree district councillor over alleged inappropriate behaviour.” Councillor Butland felt 

that this statement referred to him. 

 

30. At a meeting of the Conservative Group in March 2019 he informed the Group that he 

believed that the reference in the press to a Councillor being investigated was a 

reference to him as Mrs Beavis had submitted a complaint about him on 26 February.  

He informed the members of the Group that he felt that the allegations made by Mrs 

Beavis were of such a serious nature that he had written to the Council’s Chief 

Executive referring himself to the Standards Committee and that, given his position as 

Council Leader, there should be an independent inquiry. 

 

31. In May 2019 Councillor Beavis was re-elected to the District Council as an Independent. 

 

32. Councillor Beavis submitted a further complaint against him following a meeting of the 

Council held on 16 December 2019. A webcast of the meeting can be viewed on the 

Council’s website.  At the meeting Councillor Beavis was speaking. Whilst she was 

speaking he held a copy of the report produced by Freeths following the complaint 

against Councillor Beavis. He did not hold it up or wave it about, he simply held it on the 

desk. It was clear Councillor Beavis could see the front of the report although not many 

of the others present would have been able to see what it was. 
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